
Agenda 

ORDER PAPER FOR ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING 
TO BE HELD IN

Supper Room, Waihinga Centre, Texas Street 
Martinborough

ON

22 February 2023

MEMBERSHIP OF COUNCIL 
THE MAYOR 

Mr Martin Connelly

Cr M Bosley
Cr R Gray
Cr A Plimmer
Cr C Olds
Cr A Woodcock

Cr M Sadler-Futter
Cr K McAulay
Cr P Maynard

Cr A Ellims

RECOMMENDATIONS IN REPORTS ARE NOT COUNCIL POLICY 
UNTIL THEY ARE AGREED TO BY THE COUNCIL.





i 

 

 
 
 
 
Agenda – 22 February 2023 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 
This meeting will be held in the Supper Room, Waihinga Centre, 62 Texas Street, Martinborough and via 
audio-visual conference, commencing at 10.00am. The meeting will be held in public and will be live-
streamed and will be available to view on our YouTube channel. 
 

All SWDC meeting minutes and agendas are available on our website: https://swdc.govt.nz/meetings/ 

 

Open Section 

A1. Mihi / Karakia Timatanga - Opening  
A2. Apologies   
A3. Conflicts of interest  

A4. Acknowledgements and tributes  
A5. Public participation 

As per standing order 14.17 no debate or decisions will be made 
at the meeting on issues raised during the forum unless related 
to items already on the agenda. 

 

A6. 
A7. 
A8. 

Actions from public participation 
Extraordinary business 
Community Boards / Māori Standing Committee 

 

A9. Confirmation of Minutes 
Proposed Resolution:  That the minutes of the Council meeting 
held on 8 February 2023 are a true and correct record. 

Pages 1-8 

A10. 
 

Matters arising from the minutes  
   

B Decision Reports from Chief Executive and Staff 

B1. Adoption of the Local Governance Statement Pages 9-52 

B2. Wairarapa Policy Working Group Terms of Reference 2022-25 Pages 53-59  

B3 Additional Staffing Request for Roading Team Pages 60-65 
 
C Chairperson’s Report 

C1. Report from The Mayor  
 

Pages 66-67   

 
 
 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCMfhxnFK-riv9KItgv2BwYg/videos
https://swdc.govt.nz/meetings/


ii 

D. Public Excluded  

D1. Confirmation of Public Excluded Minutes 
Proposed Resolution:  That the public excluded minutes of the 
Council meeting held on 8 February 2023 are a true and correct 
record; and  
These minutes stay in public excluded until the Chief Executive 
determines there are no longer any reasons to withhold the 
information under the Act.  

(distributed separately) 

 

D2. Rural Resource Management in the Proposed District Plan Report (distributed separately) 
 

 

 The general subject of each matter to be considered while the public is excluded, the reason for passing this 
resolution in relation to each matter, and the specific grounds under section 48(1) of the Local Government 
Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 for the passing of this resolution are as follows: 
 

Report/General Subject 
Matter 

Reason for passing this resolution in 
relation to the matter 

Ground(s) under Section 
48(1) for the passing of this 
Resolution 

Public Excluded Council Meeting 
Minutes, 8 February 2023 
(Progress Report from CEO 
Review Committee) 

Good reason to withhold exists under 
section 7(2)(a) 

Section 48(1)(a) 

Rural Resource Management in 
the Proposed District Plan 
Report 

Good reason to withhold exists under 
section 7(2)(g) and (7)(2)(j) 

Section 48(1)(a) 

 
This resolution is made in reliance on Section 48(1) of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings 
Act 1987 and the particular interest or interests protected by section 6 or section 7 of that Act which would be 
prejudiced by the holding of the whole or relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting in public are as follows: 
 

Reason for passing this resolution in relation to the matter Ground(s) under Section 48(1) for 
the passing of this Resolution 

The withholding of the information is necessary to protect the 
privacy of natural persons, including that of deceased natural 
persons. 

Section 7(2)(a) 

The withholding of the information is necessary to maintain legal 
professional privilege 

Section 7(2)(g) 

The withholding of the information is necessary to prevent disclosure 
or use of official information for improper gain or improper 
advantage. 
 

Section (7)(2)(j)  

 
E. Karakia Whakamutunga - Closing 
 



 
 

 
 

South Wairarapa District Council  
Minutes from 8 February 2023 

 

 
Present: 
 

Mayor Martin Connelly, Deputy Mayor Melissa Sadler-Futter, Councillors Colin 
Olds (until 2:13pm), Aidan Ellims, Pip Maynard, Kaye McAulay, Alistair Plimmer, 
Rebecca Gray, Martin Bosley and Aaron Woodcock. 
 

In Attendance:  Harry Wilson (Chief Executive Officer), Amanda Bradley (General Manager Policy 
and Governance), Sheil Priest (General Manager Communications and 
Engagement), Rick Mead (Environmental Services Manager), Stefan Corbett 
(Group Manager Partnerships and Operations), Siv Fjaerestad (Community 
Development Co-ordinator), Tim Langley (Roading Manager), James O’Connor 
(Partnership and Operations Manager), James Witham (Planning Manager), and 
Amy Andersen (Committee Advisor). 
 

Public Forum: Helen Smith, Warren Woodgyer and Gary Dittmer. 
 

Conduct of 
Business: 

This meeting was held in the Supper Room, Waihinga Centre, 62 Texas Street, 
Martinborough and via audio-visual conference. This meeting was live-streamed 
is available to view on our YouTube channel.  The meeting was held in public 
under the above provisions from 10:02am to 3:02pm except where expressly 
noted. 

  
Open Section 

 A1. Karakia Timatanga - Opening 
  Deputy Mayor Sadler-Futter opened the meeting. 
 
 ITEM MOVED 

A3. Conflicts of Interest 

There were no conflicts of interest. 
 
A2. Apologies 
 There were no apologies. 

   
A4. Acknowledgements and Tributes 

Cr Olds acknowledged the passing of Bryan Love late last year and his contributions 
to Featherston community, including the Red Cross. 
 

1



 
A5. Public Participation 
  Helen Smith - Fluoridation of Water 
 Ms Smith, standing in for Mary Byrne (Fluoride Free NZ), presented to Council on 

fluoridation of water. Ms Smith referenced recent changes to legislation, studies 
conducted globally, and requested Council push back on central government on this 
matter.  

  Mayor Connelly requested comment from Mr Wilson, who informed that the water 
  in South Wairarapa is not fluoridated and SWDC had not been issued a notice to  
  fluoridate. Mr Wilson explained that the decision whether or not to fluoridate is not 
  SWDC’s to make, but that the decision-maker (District Health Board) is not requiring 
  SWDC to do so either. 

 
 Council Projects - Greytown 
 Mr Woodgyer provided a written submission to Council on three projects in 

Greytown (Tauherenikau Bike Trail, Wheels Park, Kuranui School Hall) and requested 
clarification on a number of issues. 

 
 Gary Dittmer - Rates 
 Mr Dittmer spoke to Council about the setting of rates and information provided by 

SWDC in publications between 2018 and 2022. Mr Dittmer requested an increase in 
transparency regarding the setting of rates and asked for further clarification of 
calculations/figures.  

 
A6. Actions from public participation 

  Members discussed Mr Woodgyer’s presentation and requested answers to his  
  questions included in his paper.    

Members noted if there is any information on rates that is incorrect, this should be 
put right as soon as possible in order to respond to the issues raised by Mr Dittmer. 
 
COUNCIL RESOLVED (DC2023/01) the Chief Executive Officer to respond to questions 
raised by Mr Woodgyer in a written response to Councillors prior to the next meeting 
of Council. 
(Moved Cr Olds/ Seconded Cr Maynard)     Carried 
 
In response to Ms Smith’s presentation, members requested updates and 
information related to fluoridation from Mr Wilson if SWDC receives any directions 
to fluoridate drinking water from Director-General of Health or DHBs. 

 
A7. Extraordinary Business 

  There was no extraordinary business. 
 
A8.      Community Board / Māori Standing Committee Reports from Meetings 
 There were no members present. 
 
A9.  Minutes for Confirmation 

 COUNCIL RESOLVED (DC2023/02) that the minutes of the Council meeting held on 14 
 December 2022 are confirmed as a true and correct record, subject to the 

2



 amendment of Resolution (DC2022/115), point one – (from “adopt” to  “withdraw”) 
 in order to reflect the conversation held by members and align with point 5. 

(Moved Mayor Connelly/Seconded Cr Woodcock)    Carried 
 

B Recommendations from Committees and Community Boards  
B1. Recommendations from Infrastructure and Community Services Committee 
 Councillor Ellims and Mr Corbett spoke to the report.    
  Members queried alignment with climate change plans and requested clarification 

with regard to the project funding source (due to a correction in the report noted by 
Mr Corbett) and the Land Transport Plan. 

 It was noted that progress reports and updates on funding of the project are to come 
the Finance Committee.   

 Members noted the community response to news of the project in Martinborough 
has been positive. 

 
 COUNCIL RESOLVED (DC2023/03) to: 

1. Approve Option 1 - to install pedestrian lighting on all noncompliant 
pedestrian crossings in the SW District, beginning with the ones in the 
Martinborough Square and Jellicoe/Venice Street corner. Pedestrian 
lighting in Martinborough to be funded from the from the appropriate 
reserve, as identified by the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief 
Executive Officer, at a cost of up to $200,000 and work to commence in 
FY 2023/24. Pedestrian lighting in the other Wards to be included in the 
next Land Transport Plan 2024-2027 at a cost of up to $300,000 and, if 
our application is successful, work to commence in FY 2024/25. Council 
Officers to produce a costed project plan including the findings for the 
investigative work being done about the current square lighting, and 
solar power options by 1 March 2023. 

2. To agree that implementation of pedestrian lighting in the 
Martinborough Square is completed without public consultation on the 
basis that the current pedestrian lighting is a risk to public safety and is 
not compliant with current requirements, noting the high level of public 
feedback and the desire to have the issue resolved. 

3. To identify that the decision not to consult is inconsistent with the 
Martinborough Square Management Plan (2012), and that this 
requirement of the Management Plan will be reviewed as part of the 
global review of all of Council’s reserve management plans. 
Items 1-3 [read together]  
(Moved Cr Ellims/Seconded Cr Plimmer)       Carried 

Meeting break at 10:56am 
Meeting returned at 11:05am 

 

3



C Decision Reports from Chief Executive and Staff 
 

C1.  Approval of Financial Contributions Offset and Compensation for Vested Works 
– Westec Developments Limited 
Mr Wilson spoke to the report and apologised for the delays in bringing this matter to 
Council.  Mr Witham responded to questions from members including: the layout 
plan on p.68 of the meeting agenda; expenditure funding source; land valuation and 
how this was conducted; processes moving forward and costs to the ratepayer for the 
development of landscaping and beautification; open waterways/drains/culverts 
included in this plan and concerns about safety (refer to p.70 of the agenda); and 
possible future developments under the Long-Term Plan. 
Members noted that future reports of this kind should include all financial 
information/costings and use of images/artists impression which take into account 
ratepayer expectations. 
Action 45: Request Council Officers provide a report to the Infrastructure and 
Community Services (ICS) Committee on safety of children/people relating to open 
water ways/races in the district. 
 

COUNCIL RESOLVED (DC2023/04) to: 
1. Approve the offset of financial contributions and financial compensation 

for Westec Developments for the vesting of the lineal reserve being the 
amount of $567,991 (+GST). 

2. Note compensation to be paid when the lineal reserve is vested being at 
the release of a certificate confirming compliance with section 224 of the 
Resource Management Act 1991 for stages 3B, 5 and 5. 
Items 1&2 [read together] 
(Moved Mayor Connelly/Seconded Cr Olds)      Carried 

C2.  Revocation of the Wairarapa Consolidated Bylaw 2019, Part 11:  Speed  
Mr Wilson spoke to the report.  Members queried updates on the speed review 
in relation to rural roads, changes to the processes to set speeds, previous 
requests for changes to speeds in Martinborough and alignment with other local 
Councils. 

  
COUNCIL RESOLVED (DC2023/05) to: 
1. Note that Waka Kotahi provides advice to inform decisions on setting speed 

limits in the South Wairarapa District; 
2. Note that speed limits in the South Wairarapa District are available in the 

National Speed Limit Register which is the legal instrument for registering 
speed limits; 

4



3. Note that the changes set out in the Land Transport Rule: Setting of Speed 
Limits 2022 effectively replaces the Wairarapa Consolidated Bylaw 2019, Part 
11: Speed; 

4. Note that the changes set out in the Land Transport Rule: Setting of Speed 
Limits 2022 do not automatically revoke Council’s speed bylaws; 

5. To note that Carterton District Council will consider this decision on 15 
February 2023; 

6. Revoke the Wairarapa Consolidated Bylaw 2019, Part 11: Speed 
and its corresponding Speed Limit Schedules effective from 20 February 2023; 
and  

7. Make minor amendments to the other parts of the Wairarapa 
Consolidated Bylaw 2019 to reflect the revocation of Part 11: Speed and its 
corresponding Speed Limit Schedules effective from 20 February 2023. 
[Read together]  
Items 1-7 (Moved Mayor Connelly/Seconded Cr Plimmer)  Carried 

C3.    Greytown Wheels Park Contract Engagement 
Cr Plimmer spoke to the report and responded to members questions including: 
plans and progress on community funding to support the Wheels Park 
development; the scope of what Council funding will cover in terms of 
construction, suitability of the proposed development area, history of the 
development, costings and funding changes due to material and inflation, 
community needs, alignment with Council’s climate change aspirations.   
Mr Wilson noted the use of lessons learned from the Waihinga Centre 
development would occur in the early stages of this project. 

 
COUNCIL RESOLVED (DC2023/06) to: 
1. Approve the contract being awarded to the preferred provider to build the 

Greytown Wheels Park with Council contribution of $1,000,000 as per the 
Long- Term Plan (LTP). 

2. Delegate the physical contract signing (as per point 1) to the Chief 
Executive Officer. 
Items 1 & 2 [read together] 
(Moved Cr Plimmer/Seconded Cr Bosley)   Carried 

C4.       Triennial Agreement 
 Mayor Connelly spoke to the report. Mr Wilson provided background and 

history of the Triennial Agreement, and minor changes required to the 
document prior to signing. 

 
COUNCIL RESOLVED (DC2023/07) to: 
1. Enter into the draft Triennial Agreement 2022-25 in Appendix 1. 

5



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D Information Reports from Chief Executive and Staff 

D1. Chief Executive’s Update 
Mr Wilson spoke to matters in the report and responded to members questions 
regarding: central government’s current position on Three Waters; resource 
management reforms; Hinekura road and updates to the community; South 
Wairarapa significant sites (Wairarapa Combined District Plan review) and making 
this information readily available to the public; timeframes relating to the Rating 
Review;  
Members acknowledged positive comments from community on dealing with the 
recent road closures due to Cyclone Hale. 
Mr Wilson provided a verbal update on the Annual Report 2021-22; completion is 
now expected March 2023. 
Action 46: Members requested that the timetable for the Rating Review be updated 
to include pre-consultation/engagement, K Ashforth/A Bradley 
 
COUNCIL RESOLVED (DC2023/08) to receive the Chief Executive’s Update Report. 
(Moved Mayor Connelly/Cr Plimmer)  Carried 

 
D2.  Action Items  

Members sought updates to actions: 

• 259 (Dog Pound – build in progress, opening expected in March/April 2023) 

• 420 (Members requested report required by 5 April 2023).   

Members agreed to close action 552 and noted that water races are to be raised at 
the ICS committee.  

Action 47: Request Council Officers respond to member’s query about the status of 
the  Greytown Rugby Club lease arrangements, S Corbett/J O’Connor 

 

 

 

2. Delegate to the Mayor the authority to make any minor amendments 
required as a result of minor changes requested by other local authorities 
in the region as part of the adoption process. 

3. Authorise the Mayor to sign the Triennial Agreement on behalf of Council. 
Items 1-3 [read together] 
(Moved Mayor Connelly/Seconded Deputy Mayor Sadler-Futter)                   

Carried 

The meeting was adjourned at 12:25pm 
The meeting was recommenced at 1:00pm 
 

6



E Chairperson’s Report 
E1.  Report from The Mayor 

  Mayor Connelly spoke to the report. Members queried representation for flood  
  management. 
 
  COUNCIL RESOLVED (DC2023/09) to: 
  1. Approve the following appointments: 

  a. Cr Maynard to the Lower Ruamāhanga Valley Flood Management  
  Advisory Committee and Cr Gray as an alternate. 
  b. Deputy Mayor Melissa Sadler-Futter to the Featherston Community Board 
  after the next Community Board meeting 22 February 2023. 

   c. The Mayor to the Wairarapa Safer Community Trust. 
 (Moved Mayor Connelly/Seconded Cr Olds )     Carried 

  2. Agree that any report to Council which includes financial considerations for  
  expenditure from any committee, must have the signed comments from the Chief 
  Financial Officer (General Manager Finance). 

(Moved Mayor Connelly/Seconded Deputy Mayor Sadler-Futter)  Carried 
 

F Appointments Reports 
F1.  Report from Councillor Plimmer – Wairarapa Road Safety Council 

Cr Plimmer spoke to the report. 
 
COUNCIL RESOLVED (DC2023/10) to receive the appointment report from Councillor 
Plimmer on the Wairarapa Road Safety Council. 
(Moved Cr Plimmer/Seconded Mayor Connelly)    Carried 
 

  

7



G Public Excluded Business 
 G1.   Public Excluded Minutes from Council meeting held on 14 December 2022 
 G2.   Progress Report from the CEO Employment Review Committee 
 
Cr Olds left the meeting at 2:13pm 
 

 The general subject of each matter to be considered while the public is excluded, the reason for passing this 
resolution in relation to each matter, and the specific grounds under section 48(1) of the Local Government Official 
Information and Meetings Act 1987 for the passing of this resolution are as follows: 
 

Report/General Subject 
Matter 

Reason for passing this resolution in 
relation to the matter 

Ground(s) under Section 
48(1) for the passing of this 
Resolution 

Public Excluded Council Meeting 
Minutes, 14 December 2022 
(Proposed Land Purchase 
Report) 

Good reason to withhold exists under 
section 7(2)(h), section 7(2)(i), and 
section 7(2)(j)  

Section 48(1)(a) 

Progress Report from CEO 
Review Committee 

Good reason to withhold exists under 
section 7(2)(a) 

Section 48(1)(a) 

 
This resolution (DC2023/11) is made in reliance on Section 48(1) of the Local Government Official Information and 
Meetings Act 1987 and the particular interest or interests protected by section 6 or section 7 of that Act which would 
be prejudiced by the holding of the whole or relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting in public are as follows: 
 

Reason for passing this resolution in relation to the matter Ground(s) under Section 48(1) for 
the passing of this Resolution 

The withholding of the information is necessary to enable any 
local authority holding the information to carry out, without 
prejudice or disadvantage, commercial activities. 

Section 7(2)(h) 

The withholding of the information is necessary to enable any 
local authority holding the information to carry on, without 
prejudice or disadvantage, negotiations (including commercial 
and industrial negotiations) 

Section 7(2)(i) 

The withholding of the information is necessary to prevent the 
disclosure or use of official information for improper gain or 
improper advantage 

Section 7(2)(j) 

The withholding of the information is necessary to protect the 
privacy of natural persons, including that of deceased natural 
persons 

Section 7(2)(a) 

(Moved Cr Maynard /Seconded Cr Plimmer)     Carried 
    
H Karakia Whakamutunga – Closing 
 Deputy Mayor Sadler-Futter closed the meeting. 
 
The meeting closed at 3:02pm. 
 
Confirmed as a true and correct record 
 

………………………………………..(Mayor)  
 

………………………………………..(Date) 

8



South Wairarapa District Council 
Kia Reretahi Tātau 

 22 February 2023 
Agenda Item:  B1 

Adoption of the Local Governance Statement 

1. Purpose 

To seek agreement to adopt the 2022-25 Local Governance Statement and make it 
publicly available on the Council website. 

2. Recommendations  

Officers recommend that the Council: 

1. Adopts the Local Governance Statement 2022-2025 for publication to the 
South Wairarapa District Council website.  

2. Delegate authority to the Chief Executive to maintain the Local Governance 
Statement by making administrative updates as and when required. 

3. Executive Summary 

Within six months after each triennial general election, the Local Government Act 
(section 40) requires that each Council prepares and makes publicly available a Local 
Governance Statement. 

The statement is to include information on the functions, responsibilities, and activities 
of the local authority, any legislation that confers powers on the local authority, 
representation arrangements, including the option of establishing Māori wards or 
constituencies, and the opportunity to change them, members’ roles and conduct 
(with specific reference to the applicable statutory requirements and code of conduct) 
and key approved planning and policy documents and the process for their 
development and review. 

4. Background 

The previous Local Governance Statement was adopted 18 March 2020 and published 
on the Council website as a series of webpages. The proposed statement for the 2022-
2025 triennium (refer Appendix 1) updates and builds on this document with the 
intention of making it more readable for the public.  

5. Prioritisation 

5.1 Te Tiriti obligations 
Engagement considered not required in this case. 

9



5.2 Strategic alignment  
☐Spatial Plan 
☒Long Term Plan 
☒Annual Plan 
 
The preparation of the LGS is a legal requirement. 

6. Discussion  

6.1 Options  
Council can adopt the document as presented or make recommendations for changes. 

7. Strategic Drivers and Legislative Requirements 

7.1  Significant risk register 
☐Relationship with iwi, hapū, Māori 

☐Climate Change 

☐Emergency Management 

☐IT architecture, information system, information management, and security 

☐Financial management, sustainability, fraud, and corruption 

☒Legislative and regulative reforms 

☐Social licence to operate and reputation 

☐Asset management 

☐Economic conditions 

☐Health and Safety 

 

7.2 Policy and legal implications 
Adoption of the Local Governance Statement meets the requirements of section 40 of 
the Local Government Act 2002. 

8. Consultation and Engagement 

8.1  Communications and engagement 
The Local Governance Statement will be referenced on Council’s website for members 
of the public. 

8.2 Partnerships 
Have you completed a communications plan for the work described/project to 
engage/communicate with partners/key stakeholders e.g. Waka Kotahi, Kainga Ora, 
community groups, particular individuals etc? 

☐Yes ☒No 

10



If no, is a communications plan required? 

☐Yes ☒No 

9. Financial Considerations 

There is no financial impact. 
 

10. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Proposed Local Governance Statement 2022-25 

 

Contact Officer: Amanda Bradley, General Manager Policy and Governance   
Reviewed By: Harry Wilson, Chief Executive Officer 

11



Appendix 1 – Proposed Local 
Governance Statement 2022-25 

 

 

12



    

LOCAL GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT 2022 

13



Contents 
1. INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................................... 3 

2. WHAT IS A LOCAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT? ..................................................................... 3 

3. FUNCTIONS, RESPONSIBILITIES AND ACTIVITIES OF THE COUNCIL ........................................ 3 

4. ELECTORAL SYSTEM AND THE OPPORTUNITY TO CHANGE IT ................................................ 4 

5. REPRESENTATION ARRANGEMENTS ....................................................................................... 4 

6. ROLE OF ELECTED MEMBERS .................................................................................................. 5 

7. CODE OF CONDUCT FOR EFFECTIVE GOVERNANCE ............................................................... 6 

8. GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE ..................................................................................................... 6 

9. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION ............................................................... 7 

10. MĀORI AND MANA WHENUA ENGAGEMENT AND RELATIONSHIPS .................................. 7 

11. PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE COUNCIL AND ITS ELECTED MEMBERS ......................................... 7 

12. OTHER REPRESENTATION AND STRUCTURES ..................................................................... 7 

13. MEETING PROCESSES .......................................................................................................... 8 

14. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MANAGEMENT AND MEMBERS ................................................ 9 

15. GOOD EMPLOYER ................................................................................................................ 9 

16. REQUESTING OFFICIAL INFORMATION ............................................................................. 10 

17. KEY STRATEGIES, PLANS AND POLICIES THAT GUIDE US .................................................. 10 

APPENDIX 1 - BYLAWS .......................................................................................................................... 14 

APPENDIX 2 – OUR MEMBERS ............................................................................................................. 17 

MAYOR, DEPUTY MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS .............................................................................. 17 

COMMUNITY BOARDS AND MĀORI STANDING COMMITTEE .................................................... 18 

APPENDIX 3 – TERMS OF REFERENCE .................................................................................................. 19 

APPENDIX 4 - ORGANISATIONAL CHART ............................................................................................. 20 

   

14



1. INTRODUCTION 

 

Your vote counts 

See Page 4 to learn how our voting system 
works and how you can make your vote 
count.   

To learn more about enrolling to vote, 
visit: https://www.vote.nz/ 

 

You can have your say 

See page 7 to learn how you can speak to 
the Council, or its committees and 
community boards. 

 

Elected members are very accessible 

See page 7 to see how to meet elected 
members, or see page 8 or Appendix 2 for 
contact details. 

 

We want you to be well informed 

See page 10 to learn how to access 
information and page 6 to see how 
Council is held to account. 

 

2. WHAT IS A LOCAL GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT?  

 
The local governance statement explains 
how the South Wairarapa District Council 
(SWDC) involves the public in their decision 
making. It outlines how the Council operates 
and how the community can have their say.  

It includes information on: 

» Council functions, responsibilities and 
activities 

» electoral system and the opportunity to 
change it 

» representation arrangement, including Māori 
wards, and the opportunity to change them 

» members’ roles and conduct 

» governance structures, processes, 
membership and delegations 

» equal employment opportunities policy 

» processes for requests for official 
information.  

» meeting processes 

» management structure and the relationship 
between management and elected members 

» key planning and policy documents and the 
process for their development and review 

» systems for public access to it and its elected 
members 

» policies for liaising with, and agreements, 
with Māori  

» consultation policies 

» remuneration and employment policy, if 
adopted 

» local legislation 

» bylaws 

 

This document was prepared in February 2023.  
As new information becomes available or is  
updated, it will be published on the Council  
website. 
 

3. FUNCTIONS, RESPONSIBILITIES 
AND ACTIVITIES OF THE 
COUNCIL 

 
The purpose of local government is to enable 
democratic local decision-making and action 
by, and on behalf of, communities. It is also to 
promote the social, economic, environmental, 

15

https://www.vote.nz/


and cultural well-being of communities in the 
present and for the future. 
 
The South Wairarapa District Council is 
responsible for giving effect to these purposes 
and for performing the duties, and exercising 
the rights, conferred on it by the Act and any 
other enactment. 
 
The activities undertaken by the Council 
include core services such as local roading, 
water and wastewater services, solid waste 
collection, libraries, and reserves. It also has 
responsibilities for governance, investment, 
economic development, community wellbeing 
and quality of life, commitment to the Treaty 
of Waitangi, cultural diversity and 
accessibility, and corporate support activities. 
 
The Local Government Act 2002 provides the 
Council with full capacity to carry on or 
undertake any activity or business, subject to 
it complying with the law. Our Long Term Plan 
contains information about all of the Council’s 
activities, over a period of 10 years. The 
Council has responsibility for carrying out 
functions prescribed by a number of statutes. 
These include the management of reserves 
(Reserves Act 1977); managing natural and 
physical resources sustainably through its 
planning processes (Resource Management 
Act 1991); ensuring compliance with the 
building code (Building Act 2004); and 
planning and providing for civil defence 
emergency management within the South 
Wairarapa district (Civil Defence Emergency 
Management Act 2002).  
 

4. ELECTORAL SYSTEM AND THE 
OPPORTUNITY TO CHANGE IT 

 
Local authority general elections are held 
once every three years and were last held 
throughout New Zealand on 8 October 2022. 

The next local government election will be 
held in 2025. 
An “electoral system” describes the voting 
process used at local authority elections. 
There are two types of electoral systems for 
the election of mayor, councillors and 
community board members: 

» First Past the Post (FPP) 

» Single Transferable Vote (STV). 

 
SWDC currently uses the FPP system.  This is 
due for review again in 2024. 

Changing the electoral system 

Under the Local Electoral Act 2001, the 
electoral system can be changed by: 

» Council resolving to change the system 
to be used for the next two elections 

» Council conducting a binding poll 

» Electors demanding a binding poll 
(requires 5% of registered electors to 
sign a petition demanding a poll). 

 

Once changed, an electoral system must be 
used for at least the next two triennial (three-
yearly) elections but continues in effect until 
either a further resolution is made or a poll is 
held. 

 

5. REPRESENTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The South Wairarapa district is led by a mayor 
and nine councillors. The mayor is elected by 
voters of the whole district and the councillors 
are elected from our wards – three councillors 
each from Featherston, Greytown and 
Martinborough wards. The Deputy Mayor is 
appointed either by the Mayor or Council.  

16

https://swdc.govt.nz/ltp-consultation-2021-2031/
https://swdc.govt.nz/governance/representation-and-elections/


The community boards, one for each of the 
three wards, each comprise four elected 
members and two ward councillors appointed 
by Council.  

Review of representation arrangements  
Councils are required to review their 
representation arrangements at least once 
every six years to consider: 

» How many councillors should 
represent the district 

» How councillors are elected – by ward 
or district, or a mix of both 

» How many wards the council should 
have and their names 

» If the district should have community 
boards, and if so, what their names, 
boundaries and membership should be 

» Whether Māori wards should be 
established.  
 

We last reviewed our representation 
arrangements prior to the 2019 elections.  

The next review will commence in 2023 to 
take effect for the 2025 elections. Community 
engagement and consultation will be carried 
out across 2023 and 2024. 
 
Māori representation and partnership 
arrangements 
 
Council has a Māori Standing Committee with 
membership representing Pāpāwai Marae, 
Kohunui Marae, Hau Ariki Marae, Pae tū 
Mokai o Tauira (a Featherston incorporated 
society representing local Māori interests in 
the district), as well as iwi Rangitāne o 
Wairarapa and Kahungunu ki Wairarapa.  

In 2022, Council introduced the ability for the 
Māori Standing Committee to nominate a 
representative as a member on Council’s core 
committees. The Māori Standing Committee  

and Council are also considering other 
representation and partnership approaches. 

Councils can establish Māori wards for their 
district. Māori wards are areas where only 
those on the Māori electoral roll can vote.  

South Wairarapa District Council does not 
currently have Māori ward(s) but this will be 
considered as part of the upcoming 
representation review.  

6. ROLE OF ELECTED MEMBERS 

 

Role of elected members 
The Mayor and the councillors of the South 
Wairarapa District Council have the following 
roles:  

» Setting the policy direction of Council 

» Monitoring the performance of Council 

» Representing the interests of the 
district (on election all members must 
make a declaration that they will 
perform their duties faithfully and 
impartially, and according to their best 
skill and judgment in the best interests 
of the district) 

» Employing the Chief Executive (under 
the Local Government Act 2002 the 
local authority employs the Chief 
Executive, who in turn employs all 
other staff on its behalf). 

 

Role of the Mayor 

The Mayor is elected by the district as a whole 
and as one of the elected members shares the 
same responsibilities as other members of the 
Council. In addition, the Mayor: 

» Provides leadership to other members 
of the Council and people in the South 
Wairarapa district 

17



» Leads development of the Council’s 
plans (including the long-term plan and 
the annual plan), policies and budgets 
for consideration by members 

» Appoints a deputy mayor, establishes 
committees, and to appoints 
committee chairs. 

 

The Mayor presides at Council meetings and is 
responsible for ensuring the orderly conduct 
of business at Council meetings in accordance 
with Standing Orders. 

 

Role of the Deputy Mayor 

The Deputy Mayor exercises the same roles as 
other elected members. In addition, if the 
Mayor is absent or incapacitated, or if the 
office of Mayor is vacant, then the Deputy 
Mayor must perform all of the responsibilities 
and duties, and may exercise the powers of 
the mayor (as summarised above). 

 

Role of community boards  

The role of community boards is to: 

» Represent, and act as an advocate for, 
the interests of its community 

» Maintain an overview of the services 
provided by the territorial authority 
within the community 

» Prepare an annual submission to the 
territorial authority for expenditure 
within the community 

» Communicate with community 
organisations and special interest 
groups within the community 

» consider and report on all matters 
referred to it by the territorial 
authority, or any matter of interest or 
concern to the community board 

» undertake any other responsibilities 
that are delegated to it by the 
territorial authority.  

 

7. CODE OF CONDUCT FOR 
EFFECTIVE GOVERNANCE 

 

Elected members are required to adhere to a 
code of conduct.  

Council last adopted its Code of Conduct on 
15 December 2021. Community Boards use an 
earlier version, adopted 19 October 2016. 
Both are available on the Council website 
here: 

• Council Code of Conduct 
• Community Board Code of Conduct 

Elected members are subject to a variety of 
laws, such as the Local Authorities (Members’ 
Interests) Act 1968 and the Secret 
Commissions Act 1910.  These provisions are 
in place to make sure that elected members 
do not act in a corrupt manner. 

 

8. GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 

 

Councils can create committees, which have 
the authority to consider all matters coming 
within their scope as detailed in their Terms of 
Reference.  SWDC’s committee structure is 
established after each triennial election and 
the structure for 2022-25 in Appendix 3 and is 
also available on our website: 
https://swdc.govt.nz/your-
council/committees/ 

 

 

18

https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/Code-of-Conduct-SWDC-adopted-15-Dec-21.pdf
https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/Code-of-Conduct-SWDC-adopted-15-Dec-21.pdf
https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/Policy%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20for%20Councillors%20and%20CB%20Members%202016.pdf
https://swdc.govt.nz/your-council/committees/
https://swdc.govt.nz/your-council/committees/


9.  COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 
AND CONSULTATION  

 

South Wairarapa District Council is 
responsible for making decisions on behalf of 
its communities and we aspire to work with 
our communities to ensure their views and 
preferences are taken into account. 

Council’s Significance and Engagement Policy 
lets our communities know how and when 
they can expect to be engaged in Council’s 
decision-making processes.  

 

10.  MĀORI AND MANA WHENUA 
ENGAGEMENT AND 
RELATIONSHIPS 

 

Council respects the unique status of Māori in 
our community and is committed to building 
and strengthening our relationships  
with Māori. 
 
One of our key mechanisms for making sure 
the Māori voice is heard is the Māori Standing 
Committee.  This committee makes sure that 
the contributions of local iwi and marae are 
represented. Council also employs a Pou 
Māori – Principal Advisor.  
 
The Māori Standing Committee will inform 
and advise Council on matters of significance 
to Tangata Whenua. Council will also engage 
directly with iwi and marae representatives 
where appropriate. 
 
Council recognises that early engagement is 
often the most effective, particularly for those 
decisions which have greater significance. We 
are committed to providing relevant  
information to inform Māori contribution and 

improve Māori access to the Council’s 
engagement and decision-making processes. 
Council currently has a Māori Policy that 
outlines our commitment.  This policy has 
been prioritised for review. 
 

11.  PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE 
COUNCIL AND ITS ELECTED 
MEMBERS 

 

Information about current elected members 
and their contact details is contained in 
Appendix 2 or can be found on our website 
under Your Council. 

Members of the public seeking information or 
support can contact SWDC in writing, by 
telephone or in person. 

 

12.  OTHER REPRESENTATION AND 
STRUCTURES  

 

Cross-council, regional and external 
representation 
Council also has representation on joint 
committees and groups including members 
from other Wairarapa councils and the wider 
Wellington region: 

» Wairarapa Committees/Groups: 
Wairarapa Combined District Plan 
Committee, Wairarapa Policies 
Working Group, Wairarapa Economic 
Development Forum and Wairarapa 
Trails Action Group. 

» Joint Regional Committees/Groups: 
Wellington Regional Waste 
Management and Minimisation Plan 
Joint Committee, Wellington Region 
Waste forum, Wellington Water 

19

https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/A800-Significance-and-Engagement-Policy-June-2021-final.pdf
https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/A1000%20Maori%20Policy%20Audit%20Final.pdf
https://swdc.govt.nz/


Committee and Wellington Regional 
Leadership Committee.  

» Greater Wellington Regional Council 
Committees/Groups: Civil Defence 
Emergency Management (CDEM) 
Group. Regional Transport Committee, 
Wairarapa Committee and Wairarapa 
Moana Governance Group. 

» External Appointments: Destination 
Wairarapa Board, Wairarapa Road 
Safety Council, Cobblestones Trust 
Board and Hood Aerodrome Strategic 
Advisory Group. 

 

Council-controlled organisations 
Council is a joint owner of Wellington Water 
along with Greater Wellington Regional 
Council, and Lower Hutt, Porirua, Upper Hutt 
and Wellington city councils. 

Wellington Water was formed in 2014 to 
provide dedicated management of council 
water infrastructure and operations.  SWDC 
retains ownership of all its infrastructure 
assets and contracts Wellington Water to 
provide infrastructure management services. 
SWDC sets all the policies and performance 
objectives that are expected to be met by 
Wellington Water. 

 

13.  MEETING PROCESSES 

 

Each year a schedule of meetings is adopted 
for Council, committees and community 
boards, and the details are published on the 
Council website. Meetings are an opportunity 
for council business to be considered and 
decisions to be made.  They are an 
opportunity for you to make your view heard. 

Council also publishes a list of all meetings 
scheduled to be held in the following month 
(including the dates, times and venues) in the 

newspaper not more than 14 days and not 
less than 5 days before the end of every 
month.  

Sometimes meetings need to be held at short 
notice. These are called “extraordinary 
meetings” and are notified as soon as 
practicable.  

Meeting agendas and reports are available on 
the Council website at least two days before a 
meeting and can also be viewed at the district 
libraries or Council office in Martinborough. 
Unconfirmed minutes are available once they 
have been reviewed by the Chair after the 
meeting. Minutes are confirmed for 
correctness at a subsequent meeting and will 
be updated if any changes are made. 

Meetings are live-streamed to the Council’s 
YouTube channel where possible. 

Standing Orders 

Meetings of Council, committees and 
community boards use Standing Orders which 
is a set of procedures that guide the conduct 
of meetings. They include rules on who can 
speak and when, and outline procedures for 
voting and making decisions. Their purpose is 
to enable local authorities to carry out their 
decision-making in a transparent, inclusive 
and lawful way. 

South Wairarapa District Council adopted its 
Standing Orders on 19 October 2016. 

Public attendance at meetings 

The public are welcome to attend Council, 
committee and community board meetings. 
Very rarely, confidential matters will be 
discussed and the public are not allowed to 
attend those parts of the meeting. There are 
limited reasons for excluding the public from a 
meeting which will be notified on the meeting 
agenda. The reasons generally relate to the 

20

https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/StandingOrdersSWDCAdopted19Oct2016.pdf
https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/StandingOrdersSWDCAdopted19Oct2016.pdf


protection of privacy, professional or legal 
privilege or commercial sensitivity.  

Public excluded agendas and minutes are not 
available to the public. 

Participating at a meeting 

At the start of each meeting, 30 minutes is set 
aside for members of the public to bring 
matters to the attention of elected 
representatives. Speakers can speak up for 5 
minutes and should register their intention to 
speak with a Committee Advisor at least 24 
hours prior to the meeting. 

Further information about participating at a 
meeting is available on the Council website: 
www.swdc.govt.nz/your-council/public-
participation-at-a-meeting/  

Workshops 

Workshops are an opportunity for members 
to discuss particular matters, receive briefings 
and provide guidance to officers. Workshops 
are not meetings and cannot be used to make 
decisions or come to agreements that are 
then confirmed without the opportunity for 
meaningful debate at a formal meeting.  

Workshops can either be open to the public or 
public excluded. 

Community forums and drop-in sessions 

Community Boards and the Māori Standing 
Committee hold community forums and/or 
drop in sessions from time to time, generally 
in between ordinary meetings. Community 
forums are an opportunity for members to 
engage more easily with their communities 
and may be used for activities such as drafting 
community plans and submissions with 
community input, coordinating and co-
delivering community training or hosting an 
external guest speaker. Standing orders do 

not apply to forums and they cannot be used 
to make decisions. 

 

14.  RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN 
MANAGEMENT AND MEMBERS 

 

The Local Government Act 2002 requires the 
Council to appoint one employee, the Chief 
Executive, who is responsible for 
implementing and managing Council’s policies 
and objectives within budget constraints.  

The Chief Executive is supported by an 
Executive Leadership Team, comprising Group 
Managers of Partnership and Operations, and 
Planning and Environment, and General 
Managers of Communications and 
Engagement, Human Resources and 
Corporate Services, Finance, and Policy and 
Governance. A copy of the full SWDC 
organisational chart is in Appendix 4. 

Principles for working together  

The Executive Leadership Team and elected 
and appointed members (The Mayor, 
councillors, community board members and 
Māori Standing Committee members) have 
agreed to a set of principles for how we work 
together. 

 

15.  GOOD EMPLOYER 

 

SWDC is committed to the principle of being a 
good employer and will undertake all 
employment activities in good faith. Council 
employs a Chief Executive who is responsible 
for the employment of all other staff. 

 

 

21

http://www.swdc.govt.nz/your-council/public-participation-at-a-meeting/
http://www.swdc.govt.nz/your-council/public-participation-at-a-meeting/


SWDC will make sure it: 

» provides good and safe working 
conditions; 

» puts Equal Employment Opportunities 
(EEO) practices in place; 

» provides opportunities for the 
enhancement of the abilities of 
individual employees; and recognises: 

» aims, aspirations and employment 
requirements of Māori; 

» recognises aims, aspirations, 
employment requirements and 
cultural differences of ethnic or 
minority groups; 

» employment requirements of women; 
and 

» employment requirements of people 
with disabilities. 

 

Equal Employment Opportunities  

SWDC is committed to equality in the 
workplace and a policy of providing equal 
employment opportunities (EEO).  For more 
information see our current EEO Policy  

 

16.  REQUESTING OFFICIAL 
INFORMATION  

 

Official information refers to all information 
held by Council. Under the Local Government 
Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 
any person has the right to request 
information at any time. We treat all requests 
for information as requests made under the 
Act, even if it is not referred to in the request.  

Requests can be made directly to the Council 
through email, phone, letter or online. To 
ensure that requests are dealt with as quickly 
as possible we recommend using our online 

form. Information requests should be as 
specific as possible so information can be 
found quickly.  

Council supplies the information as soon as 
possible and no later than 20 working days 
after the request is received, unless reasons 
exist for withholding information. However, if 
the request is complex, involves a large 
amount of research and collation, or 
consultation we may need to extend the 
timeframe. 

The reasons for withholding information are 
set out in the Act. Common reasons are to: 

» protect people’s privacy 

» protect confidential or commercially 
sensitive information  

» maintain legal privilege. 

Most requests are supplied free of charge but 
we are entitled to charge. When we do, our 
charging policy is based on Ministry of Justice 
Guidelines.  

See the Council website for more information 
on official information requests. 

 

17.  KEY STRATEGIES, PLANS AND 
POLICIES THAT GUIDE US 

 

The purpose of Council is to enable 
democratic local decision-making and action 
by, and on behalf of, communities, and to 
promote the social, economic, environmental 
and cultural wellbeing of communities now 
and for the future. 

An important role of Council in carrying out its 
functions, responsibilities and activities, is 
developing and reviewing key strategies, plans 
and policies. Council has several of these key 
documents summarised in the diagram below.  

22

https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/SWDC-Equal-Employment-Opportunity-Policy_web.pdf
https://www.justice.govt.nz/assets/Documents/Publications/1982-Official-Information-Act-charging-guidelines.pdf
https://www.justice.govt.nz/assets/Documents/Publications/1982-Official-Information-Act-charging-guidelines.pdf
https://swdc.govt.nz/services/official-information-requests/
https://swdc.govt.nz/services/official-information-requests/


Long Term Plan  

Every three years, councils are required to 
develop, in consultation with its community, a 
Long Term Plan (LTP) with a ten year outlook. 
The LTP is a strategic planning document that 
identifies what our biggest priorities are. It is 
also a budget which outlines the activities and 
projects that are planned and how much they 
will cost.  

Council must also prepare a financial strategy 
and infrastructure strategy alongside the LTP. 
Our financial strategy provides a framework 
which guides the Council to make decisions in 
a financially responsible and transparent. Our 
infrastructure strategy takes a 30 year view of 
Council’s approximately $388 million worth of 
infrastructure assets.  

Our current 10-year plan, 2021-31 LTP, was 
adopted by Council on 30 June 2021. Our next 
LTP is due to be adopted by 30 June 2024.     

Annual Plan 

In between producing LTPs, Council must 
produce an Annual Plan that reviews our work 
programme and considers whether any 
changes are needed. These changes could be 
budget revisions, new priorities that arise, or 
new projects to help deal with issues that face 
the district. 

Council adopted the 2022/23 Annual Plan on 
30 June 2022.  Our next Annual Plan is to be 
adopted by 30 June 2023, then in 2024, the 
Council will develop its next LTP.  We 
welcome public input into our planning. 

Annual Report 

Each year we prepare an Annual Report. This 
report is an accountability document that 
compares actual performance against 
intended levels of performance described in 
the Annual Plan. It also explains how rates are 
spent and the value received in return.  

Council’s financial year ends on 30 June and 
the Annual Report must generally be 
produced within three months of that date. 
The report is published on the Council website 
within one month of its adoption.  The report 
for 2021-22 has been delayed.  Audit NZ has 
confirmed they will be aiming to complete all 
outstanding audits and audit opinions by 31 
March 2023 for all councils experiencing 
delays in publishing their annual reports for 
2021/22. South Wairarapa District Council 
plans to schedule an extraordinary Council 
meeting in April 2023 for the adoption of the 
Annual Report; publishing of the report will 
take place within 30 days. 

Wairarapa Combined District Plan 

The Wairarapa Combined District Plan sets 
out the objectives, policies, rules and other 
methods to promote the sustainable 
management of districts the natural and 
physical resources. District Plans are required 
under the Resource Management Act 1991. 
Our plan became operative on 25 May 2011. 

District Plans must be reviewed and updated 
every 10 years. The existing Wairarapa 
Combined District Plan is being reviewed now. 
The review process is expected to take around 
three years to complete, with the aim of 
having a revised plan in 2023. 

South Wairarapa Spatial Plan  

A spatial plan is a plan that helps shape the 
way our communities grow and develop over 
the next 30 years. It sets the long term 
direction for the district, looking to protect 
what is valued by communities while 
responding to change, growth, and new 
opportunities.  

The South Wairarapa Spatial Plan was 
developed throughout 2021 and benefitted 
from extensive consultation and engagement. 
The plan was adopted 10 November 2021. It 

23



will be reviewed in five years or earlier if 
significant change or circumstances arise. 

Featherston Master Plan 

A master plan is an overarching plan that 
shows where and how development might 
occur in Featherston overtime. It enables a 
planned approach to growth, getting the best 
and coordinated use of public investments 
such as the train station, parks and reserves, 
community facilities, roading, and integrating 
development.  

Work began on the Featherston Masterplan in 
early 2022. There is an ongoing dialogue with 
iwi/hapū and regional and central 
government agencies and formal consultation 
is proposed to occur once the draft 
masterplan has been finalised and reported 
back to Council in 2023.  

Governance Policies 

South Wairarapa District Council has range of 
governance policies that capture the ‘big 
picture’ issues of how to achieve our strategic 
direction and vision. These are collected into 
the following four areas based on the 
CouncilMarkTM programme: 

» Governance, Leadership and Strategy 

» Community Engagement and 
Development 

» Financial Decision-Making and 
Transparency 

» Asset Management and Service 
Delivery. 

 
Governance policies are available on the 
Council website: 
www.swdc.govt.nz/governance/policies  
 

Local Legislation and Bylaws 
Council’s rights, obligations and 
responsibilities are described in statutes, 

regulations and bylaws. In fulfilling its purpose 
South Wairarapa District Council exercises 
powers and fulfils responsibilities conferred 
on it by the Local Government Act 2002 
(which applies to all of local government) and 
local bylaws made by South Wairarapa District 
Council. 

Council has also developed a number of 
management, development and concept 
plans for the reserves and other amenities in 
the district. These are available from 
www.swdc.govt.nz/governance/plans. 

Bylaws help to protect the community by 
setting acceptable standards of behaviour to 
ensure activities in public places are carried 
out in a safe and responsible manner. They 
also promote a nuisance free environment 
and minimize the potential for offensive 
behaviour in public places. 

Council works with the Wairarapa councils to 
create in common bylaws.  Council also has 
bylaws which apply only locally within the 
South Wairarapa boundaries. 

A list of our bylaws is provided in Appendix 1, 
and on the Council website 
www.swdc.govt.nz/governance/bylaws  

 

  

24

http://www.swdc.govt.nz/governance/policies/
http://www.swdc.govt.nz/governance/plans/
http://www.swdc.govt.nz/governance/bylaws


 

WHAKAPĀ MAI 
CONTACT US 
 
 

 
Address: 
19 Kitchener Street, Martinborough 5711 
PO Box 6, Martinborough 5741 
New Zealand 
 
Telephone: 06 306 9611 
 
Email: enquiries@swdc.govt.nz 
 
Media enquiries: media@swdc.govt.nz 
 
Our customer service is available to help with any enquiry.  
Open: 9:00am – 4:00pm Monday to Friday 
 

www.facebook.com/SouthWairarapaDistrictCouncil 
 

www.instagram.com/south_wairarapa_dc/ 

 
 SERVICE REQUESTS AND FEEDBACK 
 
Our Get It Sorted online form can be used to report issues to Council. 
 
Urgent matters should be phoned straight away to Council on (06) 306 9611. 
Council’s compliments and complaint policy is located on our website –  
feedback is welcome and can be provided using the online form. 
 

MORE INFORMATION 
 
All Council publications referred to in this document are available at www.swdc.govt.nz 
 
The Local Governance Statement is Council’s official information document. 
 
Version Control: Adopted [Enter Date Here]. 
 
Review Date: Not later than April 2025 (six months following triennial elections).

25

mailto:enquiries@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:media@swdc.govt.nz
http://www.facebook.com/SouthWairarapaDistrictCouncil
http://www.instagram.com/south_wairarapa_dc/
https://swdc.govt.nz/contact-us/get-it-sorted/
https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/Complaints-Policy-PDF-.pdf
https://swdc.govt.nz/feedback-form-2/
http://www.swdc.govt.nz/


APPENDIX 1 - BYLAWS 
 

Wairarapa Consolidated Bylaw 2019 

The Wairarapa Consolidated Bylaw is made by the South Wairarapa District Council, Carterton and 
Masterton District Councils. SWDC adopted the bylaw on 26 June 2019 with the bylaw coming into 
effect on 8 July 2019.  

The table below provides details on the purpose of each part of the consolidated bylaw. 

Wairarapa Consolidated Bylaw 2019 

Part 1: Introductory  

 

Includes information that is common to all parts of the 
consolidated bylaw, including definitions and provisions of a 
general nature. 

Part 2: Public Places 

(including Parks and Reserves) 

 

Controls a diverse range of activities within public places so 
everyone can enjoy them safely. It also addresses damage to 
public facilities (e.g. roads, grass verges) and activities within 
public places and reserves which may have an adverse effect 
on other users. 

Part 3: Sale of Goods or 

Services in Public Places 

 

Requires every person who wants to sell goods or services in a 
public place to first obtain a license. 

 

Part 4: Prevention of 

Nuisance from Fire and 

Smoke 

 

Controls the lighting of fires to protect the community from 
smoke nuisance. 

 

Part 5: Water Supply  

 

 

Provides controls to manage and protect the water supply. 

 

Part 6: Keeping of Animals, 
Poultry and Bees 

Outlines requirements for keeping animals, poultry and bees, 
in order to prevent nuisance and protect public health and 
safety. 

26



Part 7: Cemeteries and 

Crematoria 

 

Controls and sets standards for the operation of cemeteries 
and crematoria. 

Part 8: Wastewater  

 

Regulates wastewater drainage from domestic and trade 
premises. 

Part 9: Trade Waste  

 

Regulates the discharge of trade waste to a sewerage system. 
Includes details of how to apply for a trade waste permit and 

permit conditions. 

Part 10: Traffic 

 

Enables Council to set requirements for parking and control of 
vehicles on roads in the district. 

Part 11: Speed Enables Council to set speed limits in the district (excluding 
State Highways).  Revoked February 2023 

 

Part 12: Beauty Therapy, 

Tattooing and Skin Piercing 

 

Regulates hygiene standards in commercial beauty therapy, 
tattooing and skin-piercing practices to ensure safe practices. 

 

Standalone Bylaws 

South Wairarapa District Council has adopted standalone bylaws relating to alcohol, dogs, 
solid waste and water races.  

Bylaw Name Description Date made and last 
reviewed 

Alcohol Control 
Bylaw  

Aims to control the consumption, bringing into, or 
possession of alcohol in public places to reduce 
and mitigate crime and disorder that is caused or 
made worse by the presence or consumption of 
alcohol in those places.  

Made 3 November 
2021 

Control of Dogs 
Bylaw 2013 

Sets standards and controls that must be 
observed by dog owners. It includes matters such 
as dogs in public places, wandering dogs, 

Made 2007 and 
reviewed 
September 2013 

27



ownership of more than one dog, and nuisances 
caused by dogs. 

(currently under 
review)  

Featherston 
Longwood Water 
Race Bylaw 1936 

Makes provisions for proper protection and 
management of the water race and provisions to 
prevent nuisances and obstructions. It is intended 
to assist efforts to maintain and enhance the 
quality of the Featherston Longwood Water Race 
to help ensure the future of this resource. 

Made 20 June 1936 
and reviewed April 
2014 

Moroa Water Race 
Bylaw 2007 

Assists efforts to maintain and enhance the 
quality of the Moroa Water race to help ensure 
the future of this resource. It includes matters 
such as conditions of use, Council responsibilities, 
cleaning, existing uses, extra or abnormal supplies 
and powers of Council. 

Made 23 July 2008 
and reviewed April 
2014 

Masterton, Carterton 
and South Wairarapa 
District Councils Solid 
Waste Bylaw 

Provides controls to ensure solid waste is 
managed and disposed of, while achieving 
acceptable standards of amenity. 

Made 31 July 2013 
and reviewed 17 
February 2021 

 

  

28



APPENDIX 2 – OUR MEMBERS 

MAYOR, DEPUTY MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS 
 

 
 
 
Mayor Martin Connelly 

themayor@swdc.govt.nz 

 

Melissa Sadler-Futter 

Deputy Mayor and 

Featherston Ward Councillor 
melissa.sadlerfutter@swdc.govt.nz  

 

Rebecca Gray 

Featherston Ward Councillor 

rebecca.gray@swdc.govt.nz 

 
 
Colin Olds 

Featherston Ward Councillor 
colin.olds@swdc.govt.nz 

 

 
Aaron Woodcock 

Greytown Ward Councillor 
Aaron.woodcock@swdc.govt.nz 

 
 
Martin Bosley 

Greytown Ward Councillor  

martin.bosley@swdc.govt.nz 

 

 
Alistair Plimmer 

Greytown Ward Councillor 
Alistair.plimmer@swdc.govt.nz 

 

 
Pip Maynard 

Martinborough Ward Councillor 

pip.maynard@swdc.govt.nz 

 

 
Kaye McAulay 
Martinborough Ward Councillor 
kaye.mcaulay@swdc.govt.nz 

 

 
Aidan Ellims 

Martinborough Ward Councillor 

aidan.ellims@swdc.govt.nz 

 

  

29

mailto:themayor@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:melissa.sadlerfutter@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:rebecca.gray@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:colin.olds@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:Aaron.woodcock@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:martin.bosley@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:Alistair.plimmer@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:pip.maynard@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:kaye.mcaulay@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:aidan.ellims@swdc.govt.nz


COMMUNITY BOARDS AND MĀORI STANDING COMMITTEE 

 
Featherston Community Board 

Tui Rutherford 
Chair 
tui.rutherford@swdc.govt.nz  
 

John Dennison 
Deputy Chair 
john.dennison@swdc.govt.nz  

Warren Maxell 
warren.maxwell@swdc.govt.nz  
 

Annelise Schroeder  
annelise.schroeder@swdc.govt.nz  

 
Greytown Community Board 

Louise Brown  
Chair 
louise.brown@swdc.govt.nz  
 

Warren Woodgyer 
Deputy Chair 
warren.woodgyer@swdc.govt.nz 

Jo Woodcock 
jo.woodcock@swdc.govt.nz 
 

Vacancy  

 
Martinborough Community Board 

Storm Robertson 
Chair 
storm.robertson@swdc.govt.nz  
 

Angela Brown 
Deputy Chair 
angela.brown@swdc.govt.nz  

Mel Maynard 
mel.maynard@swdc.govt.nz  
 

Karen Krogh 
karen.krogh@swdc.govt.nz  

 

Māori Standing Committee 

Andrea Rutene 
Chair  
Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa 
mscchair@swdc.govt.nz  

Karen Mikaera 
Deputy Chair 
Pae Tū Mokai o Tauira 
 

 
Narida Hooper 
Pae Tū Mokai o Tauira 

 
Violet Edwards 
Kohunui Marae 
 

Gillies Baker 
Pāpāwai Marae 

Herewini Ammunson 
Pāpāwai Marae 
 

JD Smith 
Hau Ariki Marae 

Lola Kiel 
Hau Ariki Marae 

 

  

30

mailto:tui.rutherford@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:john.dennison@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:warren.maxwell@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:annelise.schroeder@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:louise.brown@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:warren.woodgyer@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:jo.woodcock@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:storm.robertson@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:angela.brown@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:mel.maynard@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:karen.krogh@swdc.govt.nz
mailto:mscchair@swdc.govt.nz


APPENDIX 3 – TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

  

31

https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/SWDC-Terms-of-Reference-2022-25-ADOPTED-V2.pdf


    

COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE 

TERMS OF REFERENCE  

2022-2025 

32



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

2 
 

 

 

Contents 
1. INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................................... 3 

2. COMMITTEE ESTABLISHMENT ................................................................................................ 3 

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE (TOR) .................................................................................................. 3 

4. QUORUM ................................................................................................................................ 3 

5. AMBIGUITY AND CONFLICT ..................................................................................................... 4 

COUNCIL TOR .................................................................................................................................. 5 

MĀORI STANDING COMMITTEE TOR .............................................................................................. 6 

FINANCE COMMITTEE TOR ........................................................................................................... 10 

INFRASTRUCTURE & COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE TOR .................................................. 11 

CLIMATE CHANGE & ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE TOR ............................................................... 13 

ASSURANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE TOR ...................................................................................... 14 

CEO EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE TOR .......................................................................................... 15 

HEARINGS COMMITTEE TOR ......................................................................................................... 16 

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT HEARINGS PANELS TOR ..................................................................... 17 

DISTRICT LICENSING COMMITTEE TOR ......................................................................................... 19 

 

 

33



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

3 
 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

This document sets out the Terms of Reference for the South Wairarapa District Council and 

its committees for the 2022-2025 triennium. 

The Council’s business is wide-ranging, and it has many obligations and powers under 

statutes and regulations. It is not always necessary for the full Council to deal with every 

matter itself, therefore committees are formed to support. In addition, delegations to 

officers are made for the effective and efficient operation of Council. These are outlined in 

the Delegations Policy and Register available on the Council website. 

2. COMMITTEE ESTABLISHMENT 

The Mayor has the power to establish committees and appoint the chairperson of each 

committee under section 41A of the Local Government Act 2002.  

The Council also has the ability to appoint, discharge, or reconstitute, the committees that it 

considers appropriate under schedule 7 part 1, 30 of the Local Government Act 2002. 

Committees include, in relation to the Council: 

» a committee comprising all the members of the Council 

» a standing committee or special committee appointed by the Council 

» a joint committee appointed under clause 30 of Schedule 7 of the Local Government 

Act 2002 

» any subcommittee of a committee described above. 

 

The Mayor is a member of each committee.  

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE (TOR) 

The Terms of Reference for each committee are set out in full in this document. The Terms 

of Reference include the purpose, key responsibilities, delegations, membership, quorum 

and meeting frequency. 

4. QUORUM 

Generally, unless otherwise specified, a quorum is the presence of: 

»  half of the members if the number of members (including vacancies) is even, or 

» a majority of members if the number of members (including vacancies) is odd. 

 

  

34



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

4 
 

5. AMBIGUITY AND CONFLICT 

In the event of ambiguity or conflict between any of the provisions contained in these terms 

of reference, with the result that there is uncertainty or dispute as to which committee has 

delegated authority in respect of a particular matter, the Mayor will decide in consultation 

with the Deputy Mayor on advice from the Chief Executive.  

 

  

35



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

5 
 

COUNCIL TOR 

1. Purpose 

 

The purpose of Council is to: 

 

• enable democratic local decision-making and action by, and on behalf of, communities; and 

• promote the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of communities in the present 

and for the future.  

 

2. Key Responsibilities  

 

Activities that will be decided by the full Council include the power to: 

 

• make a rate 

• make a bylaw 

• borrow money, or purchase or dispose of assets, other than in accordance with the long-term plan 

• adopt a long-term plan, annual plan, or annual report 

• appoint a chief executive 

• adopt policies required to be adopted and consulted on under the Local Government Act 2002 in 

associations with the long-term plan or developed for the purpose of the local governance statement 

• adopt a remuneration and employment policy 

• approve or amend the Council Code of Conduct 

• approve or amend Council’s Standing Orders 

• appoint committees or establish joint committees with another local authority  

• approve the Local Governance Statement under section 40 of the Local Government Act 2002 

• approve the Triennial Agreement under section 15 of the Local Government Act 2002 

• approve the Council’s recommendation to the Remuneration Authority for remuneration of elected 

members 

• make decisions on the review of representation arrangements under the Local Electoral Act 2001 

• determine any other matters that Council is legally unable to delegate or where a valid delegation has 

not been made to a committee or other subordinate decision-making body, community board, or 

member or officer.  

 

3. Membership and Composition 

 

Chair:   The Mayor  

Membership:   The Mayor and all councillors 

Quorum:    Five members (half the membership) 

Meeting Frequency:   Every 8 weeks 

  

36



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

6 
 

MĀORI STANDING COMMITTEE TOR 

1. Introduction 

 

These Terms of Reference reflect the intent and expectations of both the South Wairarapa District Council 

(“the Council”) and the South Wairarapa District Council Māori Standing Committee (“the Committee”). These 

Terms of Reference look to strengthen the relationship between the Council and the Committee members and 

to ensure that the role of kaitiakitanga by the Committee and tāngata whenua is fulfilled and the wellbeing of 

the South Wairarapa district and its people is enhanced. Te Tiriti o Waitangi/the Treaty of Waitangi is a 

historical agreement between the Crown and Māori. The Council is a statutory body with powers and 

responsibilities delegated to it by the Crown. The Council must therefore adhere to the principles of Te Tiriti o 

Waitangi/the Treaty of Waitangi in respect of tāngata whenua within the South Wairarapa district. The Council 

and the Committee acknowledge that the iwi of Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa and Rangitāne o Wairarapa and 

their respective hapū exercise mana whenua and mana moana over the South Wairarapa district. The Council 

and the Committee acknowledge that the marae in the South Wairarapa district are Kohunui Marae, Hau Ariki 

Marae and Pāpāwai Marae and Pae tū Mōkai O Tauira as a kaupapa māori community group represented on 

the Committee. The Council and the Committee further acknowledge that there are mataawaka (people of 

Māori descent who are not tāngata whenua) living within the South Wairarapa District. 

 

2. Background 

 

On 15 December 1993, the Council made a resolution to support in principle the establishment of a Māori 

Standing Committee of the Council. On 27 March 1996, the Council Working Party and tāngata whenua 

established the Committee. On 17 April 1996, the Committee first met, and on 20 June 1996, the Committee 

was formally established following the adoption of the 1996/1997 Annual Plan. The Annual Plan included a 

Māori Policy and an acknowledgement that the Committee was now fully operational. The Committee has 

been established every triennium thereafter. The Committee is established pursuant to clause 30(1)(a) of 

Schedule 7 of the Local Government Act 2002. 

3. Overview 

 

The South Wairarapa District, which extends from the Tararua Ranges to the South Wairarapa Coastline and 

includes Greytown, Featherston and Martinborough (“the District”), is rich in Māori history and culture. The 

iwi of the District are Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa and Rangitāne o Wairarapa, the marae are Kohunui 

Marae, Hau Ariki Marae and Pāpāwai Marae and Pae tū Mōkai O Tauira is a kaupapa māori community group 

represented on the Committee. Some of the earliest known occupational sites exist within the District’s 

boundaries and for centuries the natural environment has provided both material and spiritual sustenance. Its 

place in the Māori political history of Aotearoa is a matter of national record. Lake Wairarapa and the South 

Wairarapa Coastline are of immense cultural, spiritual and historic significance to tāngata whenua. 

The Local Government Act 2002 (“the LGA”) signals that the social, cultural and economic development of 

Māori is of particular importance. There are also specific requirements to enable Māori to contribute to 

council decision-making. The Resource Management Act 1991 (“the RMA”) places obligations on the Council 

including a duty to consult with Māori during the planning process and requires consideration of Māori cultural 

and traditional relationships with their ancestral lands, water, sites of significance, wāhi tapu, and other 

taonga. These obligations are in turn derived from the underlying principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi/the Treaty 

of Waitangi, which in this context, includes: 

• Partnership - the development of an active and on-going relationship between the Council and hapū 

of Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa and Rangitāne o Wairarapa in the South Wairarapa.  

• Participation - a principle which emphasises positive and active Māori involvement in the business of 

the Council, and in particular its planning and delivery functions. 

37



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

7 
 

• Active Protection - the requirement to ensure that Māori well-being is enhanced whenever possible, 

and that principles of equity of Māori outcomes are observed in the Council’s decision-making 

processes. 

The Council is committed to giving effect to these principles by engaging effectively with tāngata whenua and 

fostering positive relationships in pursuance of the partnership envisaged under Te Tiriti o Waitangi/the Treaty 

of Waitangi, on matters that affect and concern tāngata whenua. 

4. Purpose and Functions 

 

The purpose of the Committee is to advocate on behalf of and in the best interests of tāngata whenua in the 

District (including the descendants of hapū of Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa and Rangitāne o Wairarapa) and 

to ensure that the Council is fulfilling its obligations to them. To achieve this purpose, the Committee will 

undertake the following functions to the extent that resources allow: 

• Give advice and make recommendations to the Council on significant governance issues and decisions 

that affect tāngata whenua in the District. 

• Actively participate in and contribute to decision-making processes, policy and strategy development 

and other activities of the Council, based on Te Tiriti o Waitangi/the Treaty of Waitangi principles of 

participation, partnership and active protection. 

• Consider ways in which to support the development of Māori capacity and capability to contribute to 

the decision-making processes of the Council. 

• Provide advice and relevant information to the Council regarding economic, social, environmental, 

spiritual and cultural matters in the District that support sustainable resource management, 

kaitiakitanga and economic growth. 

• Make recommendations to the Council on matters of relevance affecting tāngata whenua in the 

District, and to help fulfil the Māori consultative requirements of the Council particularly with regard 

to the principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi/the Treaty of Waitangi, the LGA and the RMA. 

• Work with the Council to develop and maintain a Māori consultation policy and advise the Council 

about particular consultation processes with tāngata whenua in the District. Assist in the 

development of consultation networks throughout the District. 

• Manage a budget for the purposes of making community grants, marae grants and undertaking 

projects that promote Māori interests. 

• Advise the Council on engagement with tāngata whenua to ensure that these engagements are 

positive, productive, and culturally safe and that the tikanga of the tāngata whenua are observed and 

respected by Council. 

 

5. Stakeholders 

 
Stakeholders include: 

• South Wairarapa District Council. 

• Hapū of Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa and Rangitāne o Wairarapa. 

• Iwi settlement trusts and their entities. 

• Kohunui Marae, Hau Ariki Marae and Pāpāwai Marae. 

• Pae Tū Mokai o Tauira. 

• Greater Wellington Regional Council. 

• Wellington Water Ltd. 

• The wider South Wairarapa District community. 

  

38



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

8 
 

 

6. Deliverables 

 

In addition to its functions outlined above, the Committee will: 

• Contribute to the Long Term Plan every three years. 

• Contribute to the Annual Plan every other year. 

• Provide advice on the hapū responsible for cultural and historical input into resource consents under 

the RMA. 

 

7. Accountability and Reporting 

 

The Committee is accountable to the Council and minutes of Committee meetings and specific reports will be 

presented to the Council. The chairperson or nominated appointee of the Committee may provide an update 

to the Council at each Council meeting 

8. Delegated Authority 

 

In addition to the functions of the Committee outlined in paragraph 3 above, the Council delegates to the 

Committee the power to: 

• Discretionarily spend on community grants and projects. 

• Determine the criteria and allocation of the marae development fund granted through Annual or Long 

Term Plans, and any subsequent development grants, to Kohunui Marae, Hau Ariki Marae, Pāpāwai 

Marae and Pae tū Mōkai O Tauira. 

 

9. Membership and Composition 

 

Reports to: Council 

Membership: At least one, but up to three councillors appointed by Council in consultation with Iwi 

representatives 

Up to two representatives from each of the three South Wairarapa Marae (Kohunui Marae, Hau Ariki Marae 

and Pāpāwai Marae) 

Up to two representatives from Pae Tū Mokai o Tauira 

Up to one representative from Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa 

Up to one representative from Rangitāne o Wairarapa 

The Mayor 

Up to one youth representative in an advocacy role 

Nominations for Iwi or Marae/Pae tū Mōkai O Tauira representatives must be received in writing from each 

participating body and are ratified by the Committee. Councillor membership is ratified by Council. The 

chairperson and deputy chairperson are elected by the Committee at the start of the triennium. 

A robust induction process will be in place for all incoming members of the Committee. 

Non-voting attendees: The youth representative is not a voting member of the Committee 

Meeting Frequency: Eight-weekly or as required, with workshops and community forums held as needed.  

Quorum: Five members including a minimum of three representatives from Iwi or Marae/Pae tū Mōkai O 

Tauira and one representative from Council 

Committee Continuation: Under clause 30(7) of Schedule 7 of the Local Government Act 2002, this Committee 

is deemed not to be discharged following each triennial general election. 

39



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

9 
 

Agenda and paper circulation: The agenda for Committee meetings will be circulated by email as well as by 

post, to be received at least two working days before the Committee meeting. The agenda will also be made 

publicly available at the South Wairarapa libraries and on the Council’s website in the following location: 

https://swdc.govt.nz/meetings/.  

 

Workshops and briefings: The Committee may hold workshops and briefings about matters that impact local 

government and Māori. These workshops are not decision-making forums and the provisions of Council’s 

Standing Orders relating to workshops and similar forum apply. 

 

Review of Terms 

These Terms of Reference may be reviewed, updated or amended at any time by the Committee and must be 

endorsed by the Committee and approved by Council. 

 

 

 

  

40

https://swdc.govt.nz/meetings/


SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

10 
 

FINANCE COMMITTEE TOR 

 

1. Purpose 

 

Ensure the strategic overall financial management and performance of the council. 

 

2. Key responsibilities 

 

• Quarterly review of the financial position of Council.  

• Advising and supporting the development of the Annual Plan and the Long-Term Plan. 

• To have a strategic understanding of the Annual Report. 

• Collaborate with the Strategy & Policy Working Group on the review and adoption of policies with a 

financial focus or impact.  

• Collaborate with the Strategy & Policy Working Group on submissions to external bodies.  

• Provide input into planning for engagement and consultation activity with a financial focus or impact.  

 

3. Delegated Authority  

 

Power to Act: 

• Assess and approve Community & Youth Grants 

• The ability to sub-delegate to Community Boards and the Māori Standing Committee, grants 

consistent with their Terms of Reference. 

 

4. Membership and Composition 

  

Chair:   Councillor Colin Olds  

Membership: Mayor Martin Connelly, Councillor Colin Olds, Councillor Kaye McAulay, Councillor 

Aaron Woodcock, Councillor Martin Bosley, a nominated representative from the 

Māori Standing Committee as determined by the Māori Standing Committee 

Quorum:  Three Members 

Frequency:   Quarterly  

 

  

41



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

11 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE & COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE TOR 

1. Purpose 

 

To provide governance direction and monitoring of Council programmes, services, and projects against 

approved levels of service across the following activity areas: 

• Land transport (roading and footpaths) 

• Water supply (including water races) 

• Wastewater 

• Stormwater drainage 

• Community Facilities & Services 

 

2. Key responsibilities 

 

• Setting direction and monitoring the strategic management of council assets and ensuring alignment 

to its long-term strategic objectives.  

• Monitor levels of service (KPIs) and performance of the activities. 

• Setting direction and monitoring of significant projects that are of a nature which pose significant risk 

or high community impact, including delivery against key milestones, project risks, and budget. 

• Collaborate with the Strategy & Policy Working Group on the review and adoption of policies with an 

infrastructure and community services focus or impact.  

• Collaborate with the Strategy & Policy Working Group on submissions to external bodies.  

• Provide input to planning for engagement and consultation activity with an infrastructure and 

community services focus or impact.  

 

3. Delegated Authority  

 

Power to Act: 

• Approve unbudgeted emergency expenditure from reserve funds and emergency expenditure up to 

maximum of $400,000, includes both capital and operational expenditure. 

• Approve activities and unbudgeted expenditure up to 100k outside of the annual plan that do not 

trigger the Significance & Engagement Policy or other legislative requirements, includes both capital 

and operational expenditure.  

• Provide input to planning for community engagement and consultation activities with an 

infrastructure and community services focus or impact.  

• To stop roads. 

 

Power to Recommend: 

• The use of reserve funds over $400,000 for unbudgeted emergency expenditure.  

• Activities outside of the annual plan that trigger the Significance & Engagement Policy or other 

legislative requirements. 

 

5. Membership and Composition 

  

Chair:   Councillor Aidan Ellims 

Deputy Chair:  Deputy Mayor Melissa Sadler-Futter 

42



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

12 
 

Membership: Mayor Martin Connelly, Deputy Mayor Melissa Sadler-Futter, Councillor Rebecca 

Gray, Councillor Martin Bosley, Councillor Aaron Woodcock, Councillor Alistair 

Plimmer, Councillor Aidan Ellims, Councillor Pip Maynard, a nominated 

representative from the Māori Standing Committee as determined by the Māori 

Standing Committee 

Quorum:  Five members   

Frequency:   Every 8 weeks 

 

  

43



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

13 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE & ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE TOR 

1. Purpose 

 

Provide strategic thinking and planning around climate change and the environment that will promote the 

environmental well-being of our communities now and into the future.  

  

2. Key Responsibilities  

 

• Setting direction and monitoring progress of the key strategic climate change strategies and plans for 
Council. 

• Ensuring alignment across Council of key regional and national strategic environmental wellbeing 
strategies and plans.  

• Collaborate with the Strategy & Policy Working Group on the review and adoption of policies with a 
climate change and environment wellbeing focus or impact.  

 

3. Delegated Authority  

 

Power to Act: 

• Provide input to planning for community engagement and consultation activities with a climate 

change and environment focus or impact.  

 

Power to Recommend to Council: 

• Advice on direction and action to address Climate Change and environmental wellbeing. 
• Advice on the possible establishment of a Wairarapa Climate Change Joint Committee. 

• The power to develop co-operative structures involving the Carterton and Masterton District Councils 

with the aim of developing a Wairarapa wide strategic approach to Climate Change and the 

Environment. 

• Adoption of relevant strategies and plans. 

 
4. Membership and Composition 

  

Chair:   Councillor Rebecca Gray 

Membership: Mayor Martin Connelly, Councillor Rebecca Gray, Councillor Pip Maynard, Councillor 

Colin Olds, Councillor Martin Bosley, Councillor Kaye McAulay, a nominated 

representative from the Māori Standing Committee as determined by the Māori 

Standing Committee 

Quorum:  Four members   

Frequency:   Quarterly  

  

44



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

14 
 

ASSURANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE TOR 

 

1. Purpose 

 

Provide independent assurance and assistance on Council’s risk, controls, compliance framework, and its 

external accountability responsibilities. 

 

2. Key Responsibilities 

 

• Setting direction and monitoring progress of the risk management framework, and associated 

procedures for effective identification and management of Council’s financial and business risks, 

including insurance and fraud. 

• Ensure legal and compliance risks including monitoring Council’s compliance with relevant laws, 

regulations, and associated government policies. 

• Ensure the independence and adequacy of the external audit function..  

• Setting direction and monitoring progress of Council’s emergency response and business continuity 

planning arrangements. 

• Collaborate with the Strategy & Policy Working Group on the review and adoption of policies with an 

assurance and risk focus or impact.  

• Ensuring the health, safety and well-being responsibilities of Council are well managed (noting the 

distinct responsibilities of the CEO under legislation). 

 

3. Delegated Authority  

 

Power to Act: 

• Approve strategies and plans related to emergency response and business continuity within budgeted 

limitations. 

• Delegate to members of the Committee and Chief Executive the powers to appoint an Independent 

Chair, as recommendations by the Auditor General. 

 

Power to Recommend to Council: 

• Adoption of the Annual Report. 

 

4. Membership and Composition 

 

Collectively, members of the Committee should have a broad range of skills and experiences, both relevant to 

the operations of the council as well as to the risk profile of the council. At least one member should have 

expertise in accounting and finance. All members should have at least some accounting and financial literacy. 

Professional development of members to enable them to build their skills should be considered.  

  

Chair:   Independent Chair  

Membership: Mayor Martin Connelly, Deputy Mayor Melissa Sadler-Futter, Councillor Aidan 

Ellims, Councillor Alistair Plimmer, Councillor Kaye McAulay, a nominated 

representative from the Māori Standing Committee as determined by the Māori 

Standing Committee 

Quorum:  Three members   

Frequency:   Quarterly  

45



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

15 
 

CEO EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE TOR 

1. Purpose 

 

The committee acts on behalf of Council to promote an effective working relationship between the Council 

and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The committee oversees matters relating to the CEO employment, 

development, and performance.  

 

2. Key responsibilities 

 

• Promote a collaborative and effective working relationship between the Council and the CEO. 

• Establish a performance agreement with the CEO including agreed Key Result Areas (KRAs) and Key 

Performance Indicators (KPIs).  

• Provide feedback to the CEO on the effectiveness of their performance, and any areas for 

development or improvement.  

• Support the CEO to attend appropriate professional development courses and conferences. 

• Ensure there are three-monthly reviews with an external consultant, Mayor and CEO.  

• Complete formal reviews in conjunction with an external consultant, including ensuring the CEO 

completes a self-assessment report each year. 

• Arrange for confidential feedback to be provided by councillors to an external consultant to be 

compiled into one document to be reported to the full Council. 

• Review the salary of the CEO and make recommendations to Council on an annual basis. 

• Receive written progress reports from an external consultant. 

  

3. Delegated Authority  

 

The Committee is delegated the Power to Act: 

• To complete half-yearly reviews and feedback to CEO, in conjunction with an external consultant, 

with the summary reported to Council. 

• The authority to forward written progress reports from the external consult to Council as required, 

but at least once a year. 

• To seek specialist advice and support. 

• The authority to authorise advertising for the position of CEO. 

The Committee is delegated the Power to Recommend: 

• To recommend to Council appointment of a CEO. 

• To recommend to Council CEO salary adjustments. 

 

4. Membership and Composition 

 

Chair:   Councillor Kaye McAulay   

Membership: Mayor Martin Connelly, Deputy Mayor Melissa Sadler-Futter and Councillor Kaye 

McAulay 

An external consultant may be co-opted to provide advice but is not a member of 

the committee 

Quorum: Two members. 

Meeting Frequency:  At least six-monthly or as required throughout the year 

46



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

16 
 

HEARINGS COMMITTEE TOR 

1. Purpose 

 

To hear and determine matters that require hearings under legislative instruments.  

 

2. Key responsibilities 

 

• Hearing and determining matters that require statutory hearings under legislative instruments, including 

the: 

o Dog Control Act 1996 

o Local Government Acts 1974 and 2002 (other than the Long-Term Plan and the Annual Plan) 

o Reserves Act 1977 

o Soil Conservation and Rivers Control Act 1941 

o Any other legislative instrument (excluding the Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act 2012 and the 

Resource Management Act 19911). 

• Hearing and determining matters that may arise under Council bylaws or policies or as delegated by 

Council, including applications for dispensation from compliance with the requirements of bylaws and 

policies, and any other matter as delegated by Council.   

 
3. Delegated Authority  

 

Power to Act: 

• To conduct hearings and make determinations on matters within the terms of reference of this 

committee and as delegated by Council. 

 

Power to Recommend to Council: 

• The committee shall have the authority to make a decision on any matter before it without reference to 

Council but has the power to make a recommendation or refer matters to Council if it so wishes. 

• To hear and make recommendations to Council for those matters where a decision can’t be delegated.  

 

4. Membership and Composition 

 

Chair:    

Membership: The Mayor and up to three elected “RMA Making Good Decisions” accredited 

members of Council. 

Quorum:  Two members   

Frequency:   As required.  

 

Members will meet no later than 6 months after the swearing in of elected members to ensure suitability and 

readiness of members.  

  

 
1 Matters arising under the Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act 2012 are the responsibility of the District Licensing 
Committee and matters arising under the Resource Management Act 1991 are the responsibility of Hearings 
Panels.  

47



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

17 
 

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT HEARINGS PANELS TOR 

 

1. Purpose 

 

To hear and determine matters arising under the Resource Management Act 1991. 

 

2. Key responsibilities  

 

• Hearing and determining resource consents under sections 104 and 104A, 104B, 104C, and 104D under 

the Resource Management Act 1991.  

• Hearing and recommending decisions on notices of requirement and amendments to notices of 

requirement under the Resource Management Act 1991. 

• Hearing and deciding or recommending matters under the 1st Schedule of the Resource Management Act 

1991, excluding clause 17. 

• Specific delegations have been set out in Council’s delegation register for panels convened for matters 

arising from the Resource Management Act 1991. 

 

3. Delegated authority 

 

Power to Act: 

• To conduct hearings and make determinations on areas within its key responsibilities.  

• To act in accordance with specific delegations set out in Council’s delegation register.   

 

Power to Recommend to Council: 

• The committee shall have the authority to make a decision on any matter before it without reference to 

Council but has the power to make a recommendation or refer any matter to Council if it so wishes for 

decisions on Notices of Requirements and Plan Changes pursuant to the Resource Management Act 1991. 

• To hear and make recommendations to Council for those matters where a decision can’t be delegated 

(e.g. District Plan). 

 

4. Membership and Composition 

  

Membership 

The Chief Executive has delegated authority to appoint a Hearings Panel on a recommendation received from 

the Group Manager, Planning and Environment. 

 

The Chief Executive may appoint:  

• Independent accredited commissioners 

• Chair including chair acting alone  

• Hearings Committee members 

• An iwi approved accredited commissioner with relevant experience and skills to the matters being 

heard. 

 

For matters pursuant to Plan Changes, the Chief Executive is encouraged to appoint a member or members 

from the Hearings Committee to a Hearings Panel where appropriate. 

 

The chair will be an independent accredited commissioner and will have a casting vote. 

48



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

18 
 

 

Quorum:  One member or commissioner with a ‘chair’ endorsement from the ‘Making Good 

Decisions’ programme.  

Meeting Frequency:  As required. 

  

49



SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL  Council and Committees Terms of Reference 2022-25 
Kia Reretahi Tātau   ADOPTED V2; 20 December 2022 

19 
 

DISTRICT LICENSING COMMITTEE TOR 

1. Purpose 

 

This committee is appointed in accordance with section 186 of the Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act 2012 to deal 

with licensing matters for its district. 

 

2. Key responsibilities 

The committee has the functions outlined in section 187 of the Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act 2012: 

• consider and determine applications for licences and manager’s certificates 

• consider and determine applications for renewal of licences and manager’s certificates 

• consider and determine application for temporary authority to carry on the sale and supply of alcohol in 

accordance with section 136 

• consider and determine applications for the variation, suspension, or cancellation of special licences 

• consider and determine applications for the variation of licences (other than special licences) unless the 

application is brought under section 280 

• refer applications to the licensing authority with the leave of the chairperson for the licensing authority, 

• conduct inquiries and to make reports as may be required of it by the licensing authority under section 

175 

• carry out any other functions conferred on licensing committees by or under the Sale and Supply of 

Alcohol Act 2012 or any other enactment. 

 
3. Delegated Authority  

 

In accordance with section 188 of the Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act 2012, the committee has all the powers 

conferred on it by or under the Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act 2023 or any other acts, and all the powers as 

may be reasonably necessary to enable it to carry out its functions.  

 

4. Membership and Composition 

 

Chair or Commissioner: Councillor Alistair Plimmer   

Deputy Chair: Councillor Kaye McAulay  

Membership: Chairperson and list members maintained under section 192, including one 

councillor and external members appointed by Council  

Quorum: Three members  

The Chairperson is able to act alone to consider and determine applications for a 

licence, manager’s certificate or renewal of a licence or manager’s certificate where 

no objection has been filed and no matters of opposition have been raised under 

sections 103, 129 or 141.  

Meeting Frequency:  As required 

 

 

 

50



APPENDIX 4 - ORGANISATIONAL CHART 

51

https://swdc.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/SWDC-Organisation-Structure-including-Shared-Services.pdf


Harry Wilson
CEO 

Stefan Corbett
Group Manager 
Partnerships &

 Operations  

Russell O’Leary 
Group Manager 

Planning & 
Environment 

Sheil Priest 
General Manager, 
Communications 
& Engagement 

Committee 
Advisor 

Committee 
Advisor 

Rates 
Officer 

Accounts 
Payable 

Assistant 
Accountant 

Debtors 

Roading 
Engineer 

Environmental 
Services Manager 

Planning 
Manager 

Building  
Manager 

BCO – Technical 
Specialist

Building 
Administrator 

BCO – Technical 
Specialist

BCO – Technical 
Specialist

Building Control 
Officer 

Building Control 
Officer 

Planner

Planning 
Administrator 

Resource 
Management 

Officer 

Intermediate 
Planner 

Alcohol Licencing 
Inspector 

Environmental 
Health Officer 

Environmental 
Services Admin 

Regulatory 
Officer 

Executive 
Assistant 

Roading 
Manager 

Manager, 
Partnerships 
& Operations  

Customer Services 
Advisor 

Information 
Technology 

Customer Services
Advisor 

Cleaner

Team Leader 
Customer Services 

Amenities 
Coordinator 

Property Portfolio 
Advisor 

Property  
Advisor 

Information 
Officer

Community 
Development 
 Coordinator 

Principal Advisor – 
Water Transition 

Amanda Bradley 
General Manager, 

Policy &
Governance

Karon Ashforth 
General Manager, 

 Finance

Lead Regulatory  
 Officer

Paul Gardner 
General Manager, 

HR & Corporate 
Services 

Library Services
Manager

Branch Librarians 
& Assistants 

Greytown 

Branch Librarians 
& Assistants  
Featherston 

Branch Librarians 
& Assistants 

Martinborough 

Environmental 
Sustainability  

Advisor 

Communications
Advisor

Development 
 Engineer Welcoming 

Communities
 Coordinator

Accounts 
 & Payroll

SWDC - GM 
Partnerships & 

Operations 

CDC - Infrastructure 
Services & Regulatory 

 Manager

Roading 
Manager  

Roading 
Engineer 

Development 
Engineer

Assets 
Coordinator (CDC)

Ruamāhanga Roads

CDC 
Community Services  
& Facilities Manager

Climate Change 
Advisor

Community 
Development 
Coordinator 

Positive Ageing 
Coordinator

SWDC/CDC Shared Services

Policy 
Advisor

Health, Safety &  
Wellbeing Advisor 

Customer Services 
 Advisor

Principal 
Advisor - Māori 

Financial 
 Analyist

Venues 
Coordinator

Environmental 
Health Officer 

Zero Waste 
Coordinator

GIS/ Asset 
Management 

Ranger 

Digital 
Communications

Advisor

Emergency
Management 

Senior Financial 
Accountant 

Mayors Taskforce
 for Jobs 

Coordinator

Administrator 
Information 

Management

Branch Librarians 
and Assistants  

Carterton

Building 
Compliance 

Officer 

These are a mixture of full time, part time, job share and contract roles, as well as shared services roles. 52



South Wairarapa District Council 
Kia Reretahi Tātau 

22 February 2023 
Agenda Item:  B2

Wairarapa Policy Working Group Terms of Reference 2022-25 

1. Purpose

The purpose of this report is for Council to approve the Terms of Reference and appoint 
a Chairperson for the Wairarapa Policy Working Group. 

2. Recommendations

Officers recommend that the Council: 

1. Notes that Councillor Bosley and Deputy Mayor Sadler-Futter were appointed to the
Wairarapa Policy Working Group by Council at its meeting on 14 December 2022;

2. Approves the Wairarapa Policy Working Group Terms of Reference 2022-25; and
3. Appoints Councillor Robyn Cherry-Campbell from Carterton District Council as the

Chairperson of the Wairarapa Policy Working Group.

3. Context

The Wairarapa Policy Working Group (WPWG) was first established to provide 
governance oversight for the development of the three Wairarapa District Council’s first 
Wairarapa Local Alcohol Policy.   

Since then, the WPWG has continued to provide governance oversight for some of the 
joint Wairarapa policies, bylaws and strategies that the three Wairarapa District Councils 
share. The work programme for the Wairarapa Policy Working Group in the last 
triennium included: 

• Wairarapa Solid Waste Management and Minimisation Bylaw 2021

• Review of the Wairarapa Smoke and Vape free Policy (currently underway)

• Review of the Wairarapa Rangatahi (youth) Strategy (currently underway)

Members of the WPWG for the 2022-2025 triennium are: 

Carterton District Council Councillor Robyn Cherry-Campbell 
Councillor Steve Cretney 

Masterton District Council Councillor Craig Bowyer 
Councillor Tim Nelson   

South Wairarapa District Council Deputy Mayor, Melissa Sadler-Futter 
Councillor Martin Bosley 

53



  
A Chairperson will need to be appointed for this triennium. The three Wairarapa District 
Councils can appoint a Chairperson for the WPWG. Alternatively, the WPWG could 
choose to appoint a Chairperson. The Chairperson is responsible for presiding over any 
workshops or meetings of the WPWG and ensuring that the WPWG acts within its 
function, as delegated by the three Wairarapa District Councils.   
  
Officers are recommending that the Chairperson of the WPWG for the 2022-2025 
triennium is Councillor Robyn Cherry-Campbell. This recommendation is based on her 
experience and continuity on the WPWG from the previous triennium.   
 
Rangitāne o Wairarapa and Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa will be invited to put forward 
a representative for the WPWG.  
 
 Current projects underway that are on the work programme of the WPWG include:  

• Review of the Wairarapa Rangatahi (Youth) Strategy 
• Review of the Wairarapa Smoke and Vape Free Policy 
• Review of the Wairarapa Local Alcohol Policy. 

In addition to this, projects to commence in 2023 that will be added to this work 
programme will be the Wairarapa Class 4 Gambling and TAB Venues Policy and the 
Wairarapa Consolidated Bylaws Review in late 2023 - early 2024. 
 
Masterton District Council provides secretariat support for the WPWG.   
 

4. Options Considered 

A summary of the options considered is included in the table below. 
 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 

1 Approve the Wairarapa 
Policy Working Group 
Terms of Reference 
2022-2025.  

Appoint Councillor Robyn 
Cherry-Campbell from 
Carterton District Council 
as the Chairperson.  

Ensures that there is a Terms of 
Reference in place ahead of 
workshops and meetings being 
held in 2023.  
 
Councillor Robyn Cherry-
Campbell provides continuity of 
membership of the Wairarapa 
Policy Working Group from the 
previous triennium, including 
knowledge of key projects that 
commenced in 2022 and 
carrying through into 2023 for 
Council decisions.  
 

No disadvantages have been 
identified. 

2 Do not approve the 
Wairarapa Policy 
Working Group Terms of 
Reference 2022-2025. 
 

More time to consider the Terms 
of Reference. 

 

Delays project timelines for 
those that are scheduled to go 
to the Wairarapa Policy 
Working Group.  
 
 

54



Option Advantages Disadvantages 
Do not appoint Councillor 
Robyn Cherry-Campbell 
from Carterton District 
Council as the 
Chairperson. 

Not appointing a Chairperson at 
this stage allows the WPWG to 
make the decision.  

 

 

4.1 Recommended Option 
Option 1 is recommended. This ensures that there is a Terms of Reference in place ahead 
of workshops and meetings being held in early 2023. Agreeing to appoint Councillor 
Robyn Cherry-Campbell as the Chairperson provides continuity of membership of the 
WPWG from the previous triennium, including knowledge of key projects that 
commenced in 2022 and carrying through into 2023 for Council decisions.  
 

5. Summary of Considerations 

Strategic, Policy and Legislative Implications 

Council appointments on committees, groups and forums are made to assist in fulfilling 
Council’s strategic and policy objectives.  

Significance, Engagement and Consultation 

The decision to approve the Terms of Reference 2022-2025 and appointing Councillor 
Robyn Cherry-Campbell from Carterton District Council as the Chairperson of the WPWG 
are procedural in nature and has therefore been assessed as not being significant under 
Council’s Significance and Engagement Policy. Neither engagement nor consultation are 
therefore required. 

Financial Considerations 

There are no financial considerations for the recommendations made as part of this 
report. Elected members appointed to the Wairarapa Policy Working Group will be 
remunerated for their time as part of their broader elected member remuneration.  

There will be separate budgets for each of the policies, bylaws and strategies that are 
considered by the WPWG, this will include any relevant secretariat costs.  

55



Communications/Engagement Plan 

No communication or engagement plan is required.  

Implications for Māori 

Rangitāne o Wairarapa and Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa will be invited to put forward 
a representative for the WPWG.  

Environmental/Climate Change Impact and Considerations 

No environmental or climate change impacts or considerations have been identified for 
the recommendations in this report.  

6. Next Steps 

If the recommendations are made as proposed by each of the three Wairarapa District 
Councils, the Chairperson appointment will be confirmed and workshops for the review 
of the Wairarapa Rangatahi (Youth) Strategy and review of the Wairarapa Smoke and 
Vape Free Policy will be scheduled.  

7. Appendices  

Appendix 1 - Wairarapa Policy Working Group Terms of Reference 2022-2025 
 

 

Contact Officer: Amanda Bradley, General Manager Policy and Governance  
Reviewed By: Harry Wilson, Chief Executive Officer 

56



Appendix 1 – Wairarapa Policy 
Working Group Terms of Reference 

2022-2025 

 

57



 
 
WAIRARAPA POLICY WORKING GROUP: TERMS OF REFERENCE 2022-
2025 
 
Background  
 
The Wairarapa Policy Working Group (WPWG)were first established to 
provide governance oversight for the development of the three Wairarapa 
District Council’s first Wairarapa Local Alcohol Policy. Since then, the 
WPWG have continued to provide governance oversight for joint 
Wairarapa policies, bylaws and strategies that the three Wairarapa District 
Councils share.   
 
Function 
 
To provide governance oversight of the development and review of joint 
Wairarapa policies, bylaws and strategies that the three Wairarapa District 
Councils share.  
 
Membership and Composition 
 
Membership of the WPWG is comprised of two elected members from 
Carterton District Council, Masterton District Council and South Wairarapa 
District Council. The membership is confirmed at the beginning of each 
triennium.  
 
Members of the WPWG for the 2022-2025 triennium are: 
 
Carterton District Council Councillor Robyn Cherry-Campbell 

Councillor Steve Cretney  
Masterton District Council Councillor Craig Bowyer 

Councillor Tim Nelson  
South Wairarapa District Council Deputy Mayor, Melissa Sadler-Futter 

Councillor Martin Bosley 
Rangitāne o Wairarapa TBC 
Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa TBC 

 
The three Wairarapa District Councils appoint a Chairperson for the WPWG. 
The Chairperson is responsible for presiding over any workshops or meetings 
of the WPWG and ensuring that the WPWG acts within its function, as 
delegated by each of the three Wairarapa District Councils.  
 
The Chairperson of the WPWG for the 2022-2025 triennium is [name to be 
confirmed].  
 
Rangitāne o Wairarapa and Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa will be invited to put a 
representative forward to be members on the WPWG.  
 
Masterton District Council provides secretariat support for the WPWG.  

58



Changes to Membership 
 
If changes to membership are required during the triennium a replacement 
member may be appointed by the respective council.  
 
Conflict of Interest and Code of Conduct  
 
Elected member/governance Codes of Conduct apply to members of the 
WPWG. Any perceived or actual conflict of interest must be declared.  
 
Quorum 
 
Four members. The quorum must contain one person from each of the 
three Wairarapa District Councils.  
 
Frequency and Meetings 
 
Volume and frequency of meetings are on a project-by-project basis.  
 
Meetings and workshops vary in length depending on the topic or project.  
 
Timing of meetings and workshops will be arranged through the secretariat 
and respective council Governance Advisors. They will be scheduled for 
the most convenient time for the majority of members and will consider 
quorum requirements while doing so.  
 
Delegated Authority 
 
To provide governance oversight to council officers in the development or 
review of joint policies, bylaws and strategies that the three Wairarapa 
District Councils share.  
 
To hear and deliberate (on behalf of the three Wairarapa District Councils) 
on joint policies, bylaws and strategies that the three Wairarapa District 
Councils share.  
 
Power to Recommend to the three Wairarapa District Councils 
 
Advice and/or recommendations on draft or revised policies, bylaws and 
strategies. 
 
 
 

59



South Wairarapa District Council 
Kia Reretahi Tātau 

22 February 2023  
Agenda Item: B3 

Additional staffing request for roading team 

1. Purpose 

To seek approval from Council for unbudgeted costs for a 1.0 Full Time Equivalent 
(FTE) role to be added to the Ruamahanga Roading team.   

2. Recommendations  

Officers recommend that the Council: 

1. Note that demands on the roading team across a range of planned and 
unplanned activity are significant and increasing, and the team urgently 
requires an experienced roading engineer to continue to meet current outputs. 

2. Approve unbudgeted costs of $30,000 in the current 2022/2023 FY connected 
to the permanent appointment of a Senior Roading Engineer to the 
Ruamahanga Roading team. 

3. Note that this unbudgeted cost will be met by phasing current vacancies. 

3. Executive Summary 

The Chief Executive (CEO) is responsible for employing, on behalf of the local authority, 
the staff of the local authority and negotiating the terms of employment of staff to 
ensure that all responsibilities, duties, and powers are properly performed and 
exercised. The CEO also has obligations under workplace health and safety legislation 
and a duty of care towards staff to ensure that staff wellbeing is maintained. The CEO 
has identified a particular risk to work programme delivery and staff wellbeing centred 
on capacity constraints in our roading team.  There is a significant increasing workload 
for the team, including managing the impact of severe weather events and cyclone 
damage to our roading network. 
 
This paper is therefore seeking the addition of a full time Roading engineer to the 
roading team to offset the high workload being experienced. This is an unbudgeted 
salary and exceeds the delegation of the CEO. This paper is requesting Council to 
approve $30,000 unbudgeted expenditure for the 2022/23 year. Noting that this will 
then increase Council’s overall salary baseline in subsequent years. 

Staffing numbers in the Ruamahanga Roading team are inadequate to meet current 
delivery model of the Ruamahanga Roads contract and we request approval to add a 
Senior Roading Engineer to the team as a permanent appointment with immediate 
effect.  The role (and one other) will be included in the Ruamahanga Roads structure in 
the forthcoming Annual Plan 2023/2024 with a salary of $90,000 - $120,000 but in the 

60



meantime, costs will be an unbudgeted expense.  Workload pressure in the team on 
renewals and maintenance, emergency works, and special projects mean we prefer 
not to delay the appointment until the Annual Plan is confirmed.  Carterton District 
Council supports this request.     

4. Background 

South Wairarapa District Council delivers its roading services jointly with Carterton 
District Council through the Ruamahanga Roads (RR) Business Unit.  The model is 
operated via a Multi-party Funding Agreement first signed in 2019.  The shared service 
delivery model was the preferred outcome of a section 17a review of the Local 
Government Act 2022, whereby a local authority must review the cost-effectiveness of 
current arrangements for meeting the needs of communities within its district or region 
for good-quality local infrastructure, local public services, and performance of 
regulatory functions.    
 
RR is responsible to both Councils for delivery of the Councils’ Land Transport Activity, 
as defined in their Long-Term Plans.  Based in a shared office in Dalefield Road in 
Carterton, the RR team consists of five staff (Road Transportation Manager, Road 
Operations Manager, two Engineers and Road Assets Coordinator).  Three of these staff 
are on the SWDC payroll.  Of these 3 roles, one Engineer is dedicated to Land 
Development and Subdivision and one to Traffic Management and corridor access.  
These latter two roles are not linked to the delivery of the Ruamahanga Road delivery 
contract.   
 
A significant challenge is the absence of an experienced roading engineer.  That role 
would normally be involved in overseeing the performance of the Fulton Hogan 
contract, contract reporting, training junior staff, site inspections and troubleshooting 
engineering problems (including emergency works).   
 

4.1 Our Current Activity 
The roading team has an extensive work programme centred around asset management 
of the following South Wairarapa infrastructure, plus Carterton: 
 
- Urban roads – 63.1km sealed, 1.1km unsealed 
- Rural roads – 340.5km sealed, 261.6km unsealed 
- Bridges – 10 timber, 68 concrete, 13 armco/pipes, 49 box culverts 
- Streetlights – Featherston 285, Greytown 235 Martinborough 300, Rural 25 
- Kerbs & Channels – Featherston 29.7km, Greytown 20.8km, Martinborough 

27.5km 
- Footpaths (concrete, asphalt, metal) – Featherston 19.7km, Greytown 20.1km, 

Martinborough 21.6km 
- 30.35km of culverts 
- 643.8km of rural water tables 
- Urban street trees  
 
Our activity centres around the following major work areas: 
 

61



- Delivering our regular subsidised work programme under the LTP 
- Leading strategic issues (i.e. Speed Review and new Asset Management Plans) 
- New developments/Resource Management Act compliance. 
- Responding to emergency events  
- Unplanned and unbudgeted emergency work like the repair of the Boar Bush Gully 

Road (which contains a critical drinking water asset that needs protecting).   
- Major projects (i.e. Cape Palliser eco-reef installation, 5 Rivers Hospital) 
- Responding to public enquiries  
- Administrative and compliance activity. 

5. Prioritization  

5.1 Tangata whenua considerations 
Engagement considered not required in this case. 

5.2 Long Term Plan alignment  
Land Transport Activity contributes to social, economic, environmental and cultural 
wellbeing strategic drivers in the Long Term Plan (LTP, pp 50-55).  

6. Discussion 

We have comparatively low staffing rates per km of roads compared with other 
Territorial Authorities.  A Development Engineer was added to the team in 2022 to 
manage the increased flow of resource management/consents work, but the team is 
still understaffed given its workload.  With only 3 staff on the SWDC side, there is very 
little slack in the system to deal with vacancies and/or absences for any reason (ill 
health/leave/training). 

7. Risks & Mitigations 

Major risks of not acting are inability to deliver the Ruamahanga Roads contract to 
agreed quality levels, detrimental effects on staff wellbeing, inability of staff to take 
leave and professional development, and flight risk of experienced staff due to 
unacceptable work pressures.   

8. Consultation  

Not applicable. 

9. Financial Considerations 

This role is not included in the 2022/23 annual plan or the LTP therefore is 
unbudgeted. This role plus an additional role for the roading team is included in the 
2023/24 annual plan yet to be submitted and approved. 

 

62



Role Full time 
equivalent (FTE) 

Permanent 

Annual Salary & 
Costs 

Remaining for 
2022/23 

Mar-Jun 2023 

Senior Roading 
Engineer 

1.0 $90,000 - $120,000 30,000 

IT/Support Costs  $15,000  

Motor Vehicle     

Allowances    

TOTAL    

 

CDC are not contributing to the salary for the role (consistent with the Joint Funding 
Agreement – whereby we meet our own FTE costs) but are supportive of the role and 
have been involved in the construction of the new portfolio.   

The unbudgeted costs above will be met by phasing current vacancies across the 
organisation.  There are 3 current vacancies that will be phased to ensure that these 
unbudgeted costs can be achieved.  The current delegated financial authority policy 
states all unbudgeted expenditures over $20,000 must be approved by Council.  

This section was reviewed by : Karon Ashforth, General Manager Finance on 13 
February 2023. 

10. Climate Change Considerations 

There are no positive or negative effects on climate change from this decision. 

11. Health and Safety Considerations 

There are no health and safety considerations. 

12. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Ruamahanga Roading Team Structure 

 

Contact Officer: Stefan Corbett, General Manager Partnerships and Operations  
Reviewed By: Harry Wilson, Chief Executive Officer

63



Appendix 1 – Ruamahanga Roading 
Team Structure 

 

64



KEY
 Management/ development

Capex/Renewals

Maintenance

Admin Role

 Management of the Corridor Access Requests (CAR) systems. 
Evaluate and process Temporary Traffic Management Plans (TTMPs) for suitability.
Set reasonable local and special conditions and Issue Work Access Permit (WAP) 
Coordinate auditing of TTM controls on permitted work sites
Identify and inform clients of any Non-Conforming work
Process Work Completion Notice (WCN) to start Warranty Period.
 Monitor completed work during Warranty Period
Process “Completion of Maintenance Notice” and closure of the CAR
 Process Road Closure requests and advise Road Closure Notices (RCN)

Community Board Actions

Coordinate community events

Road 2 Zero

Coordinate underground service renewals within carriageway

RAMM Manger

Funding requests (LTP)
Contract Procurement

Subdivision Resource Consents

Traffic Management Coorindator  (TMC)
10 year Forward Works Programme

Annual programming resource
Low Cost low risk prioity

Engineers Representative

Performance Monitoring
Over weight HPMV permits
GWRC Resource Consents

Over Weight Permits
LCLR

Traffic Services

Traffic Management CoordinatorDevelopment Engineer

Customer requests

Drainage Maintenance ONRC Reporting
Vegetation Control

Traffic Counter programme

Footpaths Renewals

Vehicle Xings

Drainage incl K & C

Contract/TTM AuditsAWPT Sealed &Unsealed
Budget monitoring

REG reporting improvements

ONRC implementation

ONRC implementation

Street TreesRoad Marking maintenance

Street Sweeping

Subdivision as builtsin RAMM

Mowing/ Spraying 

Footpath Maintenance
Street Light Maintenance

Bridge/structure Renewals

Signs maintenance New Asset data standards
Bridge/Structures Maintenance

Minor Events/Emergency

RAMM database  updates

Sealed Pavements Junoviewer
Unsealed Pavements Utilities in the corridor

Low cost low risk
Programme approval

Contract/TTM Audits

Proposed

Staff Management/Performamnce

SWDC/CDC Council Reporting
Health and Safety at Work

NZTA/GWRC Liaison

AMP and Business Case

Roading Transportation Manager
Council interface

SWDC/CDC Council Reporting
Health and Safety at Work

NZTA/GWRC Liaison
REG Liaison

Wairarapa Road Safety Committee

New data Standards

REG Reporting
RAMM database

Performance Monitoring

Contract reporting/programmes etc Contract reporting/programmes etc Contract reporting

ONRC Development
Budget Control

Programme Management
Financial Management
Contract/PACE Audits

Vacant
 Road Network Engineer  Road Assets Co orindator Road Network Operations Manager

Deliver traffic related studies
Collaborating with Consultants and contractors

Provide advice  on GWRC operational plans

Cadet
Proposed

 GWRC Resource consent management

Review and comment on Resource Consent application
Review Construction drawings

NZS4404 requirements
District Plan requirements
Undertake site inspections

Review As built data
Update databases
Applicant liasion
Attend hearing s

Annual reporting WK REG
QA Audit

RAMM Updates

Council interface Community Board Actions

Reseals

Ruamahanga Roads interface Ruamahanga Roads interface Ruamahanga Roads interface

Bridge
Consultant 
plus others

65



South Wairarapa District Council 
Kia Reretahi Tātau 

22 February 2023 
Agenda Item: C1 

Report from the Mayor 

1. Purpose 

To update Council on activities and issues which have arisen since my last report to 
Council; and to consider the application from Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa to be 
appointed as a Mana Whenua Partner to the Wellington Water Committee. 

2. Recommendations 

The Mayor recommends that the Council: 

 
1. Notes and receives the report; and 

2. a) Agrees that Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa Tamaki Nui a Rua 
Treaty Settlement Trust be appointed as a Mana Whenua 
Partner Entity (MPWE) as specified in the Shareholders and 
Partners Agreement for Wellington Water Limited; and 

b) Notes that Andrea Rutene is the nominated representative for Ngāti 
Kahungunu ki Wairarapa Tamaki Nui a Rua Treaty Settlement Trust.   

3. Appointment to the Wellington Water Committee - Ngāti 
Kahungunu ki Wairarapa 

3.1 Background 
The Wellington Water shareholders amended the Wellington Water governance 
documents in 2019 to allow for iwi representation. 
 
Since then, the Wellington Water Committee has been operating a 
governance structure providing for genuine Māori representation.   
Wellington Water’s governance documents reflect an inclusive approach. 
 
The Shareholders Agreement allows a Māori authority to seek to be recognised 
as a Mana Whenua Partner Entity. Upon joint approval by the shareholders, the 
Mana Whenua Partner Entity can nominate a person to be a Wellington Water 
Committee member (which the shareholders must unanimously appoint). A 
Mana Whenua Partner Entity must be a Māori authority within the geographical 
area in which the Wellington Water Company operates. 
 
The relevant Māori authority will become a Mana Whenua Partner Entity 

66



upon acceding to the Shareholders Agreement by way of a deed of 
accession.  
 
Two Māori authorities are currently represented on the Wellington Water 
Committee; Ngāti Toa Rangatira and Taranaki Whānui ki te Upoko o Te Ika. 

 
Up until now the Wairarapa iwi have not been in a position to be formally 
represented on the Wellington Water Committee. Instead, the Chair of the Māori 
Committee of the South Wairarapa District Council has had observer status on 
the committee.   

 
The progress of the Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa Tamaki nui a rua Trust’s treaty 
settlement now enables them to request formal membership of the committee 
and they have done this.  Their application was considered at the December 2022 
meeting of the Wellington Water Committee, and it was unanimously agreed that 
the application would be recommended to each of the shareholding Councils.   

 
Agreement is now being sought from each shareholding Council. 

 
Rangitāne have yet to apply for Mana Whenua Partner Entity status on Wellington 
Water so the Chair of the South Wairarapa District Council’s Māori Committee will 
attend as an observer until Rangitāne have formally joined the committee.   

 
Once the application from Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa Tamaki Nui a Rua Treaty 
Settlement Trust has been agreed by the shareholding Councils, Andrea Rutene is 
their nominated representative.   
 
The inclusion of Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa Tamaki Nui a Rua Treaty Settlement 
Trust on the Wellington Water Committee is a further sign of the maturing of the 
iwi/Council relationships in the region. 
 

 
Prepared by: The Mayor, Martin Connelly 
 
 

67


	B1 Local Governance Statement Report 22Feb23.pdf
	1. Purpose
	To seek agreement to adopt the 2022-25 Local Governance Statement and make it publicly available on the Council website.
	2. Recommendations
	3. Executive Summary
	4. Background
	5. Prioritisation
	5.1 Te Tiriti obligations
	5.2 Strategic alignment

	6. Discussion
	6.1 Options

	7. Strategic Drivers and Legislative Requirements
	7.1  Significant risk register
	7.2 Policy and legal implications

	8. Consultation and Engagement
	8.1  Communications and engagement
	8.2 Partnerships

	9. Financial Considerations
	10. Appendices
	Local Governance Statement Final Draft 22Feb23.pdf
	1. INTRODUCTION
	2. WHAT IS A LOCAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT?
	3. FUNCTIONS, RESPONSIBILITIES AND ACTIVITIES OF THE COUNCIL
	4. ELECTORAL SYSTEM AND THE OPPORTUNITY TO CHANGE IT
	5. REPRESENTATION ARRANGEMENTS
	6. ROLE OF ELECTED MEMBERS
	7. CODE OF CONDUCT FOR EFFECTIVE GOVERNANCE
	8. GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
	9.  COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION
	10.  MĀORI AND MANA WHENUA ENGAGEMENT AND RELATIONSHIPS
	11.  PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE COUNCIL AND ITS ELECTED MEMBERS
	12.  OTHER REPRESENTATION AND STRUCTURES
	13.  MEETING PROCESSES
	14.  RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MANAGEMENT AND MEMBERS
	15.  GOOD EMPLOYER
	16.  REQUESTING OFFICIAL INFORMATION
	17.  KEY STRATEGIES, PLANS AND POLICIES THAT GUIDE US
	APPENDIX 1 - BYLAWS
	APPENDIX 2 – OUR MEMBERS
	MAYOR, DEPUTY MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS
	COMMUNITY BOARDS AND MĀORI STANDING COMMITTEE

	APPENDIX 3 – TERMS OF REFERENCE
	APPENDIX 4 - ORGANISATIONAL CHART
	App4 - SWDC-Organisation-Structure-including-Shared-Services.pdf
	200820 SWDC Organisation structure - Positions only.vsd
	Page-1




	B2 Wairarapa Policy Working Group ToR 2022-25 22Feb23.pdf
	1. Purpose
	2. Recommendations
	3. Context
	4. Options Considered
	4.1 Recommended Option

	5. Summary of Considerations
	Strategic, Policy and Legislative Implications
	Significance, Engagement and Consultation
	Financial Considerations
	There are no financial considerations for the recommendations made as part of this report. Elected members appointed to the Wairarapa Policy Working Group will be remunerated for their time as part of their broader elected member remuneration.
	There will be separate budgets for each of the policies, bylaws and strategies that are considered by the WPWG, this will include any relevant secretariat costs.
	Communications/Engagement Plan
	No communication or engagement plan is required.
	Implications for Māori
	Rangitāne o Wairarapa and Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa will be invited to put forward a representative for the WPWG.
	Environmental/Climate Change Impact and Considerations

	No environmental or climate change impacts or considerations have been identified for the recommendations in this report.

	6. Next Steps
	7. Appendices

	B3 Roading additional staffing 22Feb23 FINAL.pdf
	1. Purpose
	2. Recommendations
	3. Executive Summary
	Staffing numbers in the Ruamahanga Roading team are inadequate to meet current delivery model of the Ruamahanga Roads contract and we request approval to add a Senior Roading Engineer to the team as a permanent appointment with immediate effect.  The ...
	4. Background
	4.1 Our Current Activity

	5. Prioritization
	5.1 Tangata whenua considerations
	5.2 Long Term Plan alignment

	6. Discussion
	7. Risks & Mitigations
	Major risks of not acting are inability to deliver the Ruamahanga Roads contract to agreed quality levels, detrimental effects on staff wellbeing, inability of staff to take leave and professional development, and flight risk of experienced staff due ...

	8. Consultation
	9. Financial Considerations
	This role is not included in the 2022/23 annual plan or the LTP therefore is unbudgeted. This role plus an additional role for the roading team is included in the 2023/24 annual plan yet to be submitted and approved.
	10. Climate Change Considerations
	11. Health and Safety Considerations
	12. Appendices
	App 1 RR structure 22Feb23.pdf
	V2
	V3 Jan 23


	C1 Mayor's Report 22Feb23.pdf
	1. Purpose
	2. Recommendations
	3. Appointment to the Wellington Water Committee - Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa
	3.1 Background





